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West Michigan Regional Water Authority

4814 Henry Street

Norton Shores, M| 49441

A)
B)

Q)

E)

F)

G)

H)

Meeting Agenda
February 18, 2020 - 1:30 p.m.
Location: City Hall — City of Norton Shores
Call to Order by Chair
Adoption of Agenda
Adoption of minutes from the Meeting of October 15, 2019
Public forum/Public input
Committee Reports
Treasurer’s Report

Old/New Business

1. Water Interconnection Contract - Action

2. Assignment and Assumption Agreement - Action

3L Budget for FY- 2021 - Action

4. Broadway Avenue Phase Il Water Main Replacement Cost — Information

5L Draft Coastal Protection Strategy Evaluation — Beach Street Shoreline —
Information

6. FY- 2019 Audit - Transmittal
Comments from the Board

Adjournment



MINUTES OF

OCTOBER 15, 2019
MEETING



WEST MICHIGAN REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY
Minutes of October 15, 2019 Board Meeting

A regular meeting of the West Michigan Regional Water Authority was called to order on

Tuesday, October 15
4814 Henry Street.

Members Present:

Members Absent:
Other Attendees:

Adoption of Agenda

Adoption of Minutes

Old/New Business:

1.

, 2019 at 1:34 p.m. in the Smatl Conference Room, Norton Shores City Hall,

Board Members Jerry Bartoszek, Mike Huston, Steve Biesiada and Heidi
Tice

Mark Meyers, Norton Shores City Administrator

The adoption of the agenda was accepted by consensus.

Vice Chair Heidi Tice moved to adopt the minutes from the annual
organizational meeting of July 10, 2019. The motion was seconded by
Secretary Steve Biesiada. The motion was carried unanimously.

Water Main Break — Henry Street @ Seminole Road - -Emergency Repair
Approval

Treasurer Mike Huston moved to approve payment for the emergency repair of
the Henry Street water main break at Seminole Road in the amount of $56,052.35,
Vice Chair Heidi Tice seconded the motion. The motion was carried unanimously,

Airline Road Water Tank — Replacement of Expansion Joint Information:
Project Cost and Update

Chair Jerry Bartoszek informed the board of the quote received for the
replacement of the expansion joint for the Airline Road water tank, which
totaled $16,800 by Ray’s Welding. Secretary Biesiada informed the board
that the work was scheduled to begin the following week with the draining
of the water tank. Included in the replacement of the expansion joint the
tank will also be cleaned and inspected while cut of service. The total cost
for everything will come to around $25,400. Chair Jerry Bartoszek makes a
motion to move forward with the replacement of the expansion joint. The
motion was carried unanimously.




3. Update: Chlorine Residual levels in Fruitport — Conversion of Altitude Valves

Secretary Biesiada updated the board on the chlorine residual levels, which
continue not to be good. He discussed shutting down the Smiley water tank
for two weeks to see if that helps the levels at all. That if it does not help,
then they should move forward with the conversion of the altitude vaive.
The tentative quote for the valve with labor is $25,650. This quote does not
include the amount it will cost to bring electricity to it, or what Tetra Tech
needs to do to get it communicating with the water plant. Vice Chair Heidi
Tice moved to move forward with the conversion of the aititude valves.
Chair Jerry Bartoszek seconded the motion. The motion was carried
unanimously.

4, Update: System controls - SCADA

Secretary Biesiada informs the board that the SCADA system should
tentatively be hooked up on November 6™,

5. Discussion: Protection of water transmission main on Beach Street

The board discussed the protection that is already in place on Beach Street
to protect the water transmission line and that the cement barriers seem
to be working to the protect the line from further erosion. Mark Meyers
discussed the 30-day deadline that the Michigan Department of
Environment, Great Lakes and Energy had imposed, but that further
discussion would be needed to come to a solution for the transmission line.

6. Discussion: Payoff of County held Regional Bonds

Chair Jerry Bartoszek informed the board that the Regional Bonds held by
Muskegon County will be paid off May 1, 2020. This will remove the County
from any ownership on the system and move it back to the Water Authority.

Comments from the Board

Chair Jerry Bartoszek informed the board that he had received information from the City
of Muskegon regarding tentative amounts owed to them based on the water rate
increases. The tentative amount owed to the City of Muskegon as of now is $294,000.

The meeting adjourned at 1:58 p.m.

Steve Biesiada, Secretary
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ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

This Assignment and Assumption Agreement (the “Agreement™) is entered into effective
as of , 2020 (the “Effective Date™) by and between the City of Norton
Shores, a Michigan municipal corporation with its principal offices at 4814 Henry Street, Norton
Shores, Michigan 49441 (the “City”), Fruitport Charter Township, a Michigan charter township
with its principal offices at 5865 Airline Road, Fruitport, Michigan 49415 (the “Township™), and
the County of Muskegon, a Michigan county with its principal offices at 990 Terrace Street,
Muskegon, Michigan 49442 (the “County”) (together, the City, the Township, and the County are
referred to throughout this Agreement as the “Assignors™), and the West Michigan Regional
Water Authority, a Michigan statutorily authorized metropolitan area council with its principal
offices at 4814 Henry Street, Norton Shores, Michigan 49441 (the “Authority,” and also referred

“to throughout this Agreement as the “Assignee”). Additionally, each of the Assignors and the
Assignee are also referred to throughout this Agreement individually as a “Party” and collectively
as the “Parties.”

Background

A In Janvary 2014, the City and the Township incorporated the Authority in
accordance with the Michigan Metropolitan Councils Act (Act 292 of 1989) for the purpose of
financing, issuing bonds for, improving, constructing, and contracting for water and sewer public
improvements and services,

B. Before the City and the Township formed the Authority, in 2010, they participated
in bond financing to cover the costs of various project components and construction related to their
joint water supply system (referred to as the “Water Supply Infrastructure™), which bonds are set
to be repaid in full as of May 1, 2020 (referred to as the “Bond Financing™).

C. The City and the Township issued the bonds in 2010 through the County per Act
185 of 1957, as amended, and therefore the County assumed an ownership interest in the Water
Supply Infrastructure as long as the bonds remain outstanding.

D. As an additional revenue stream, the City and the Township, entered into three
separate cellular telephone antenna lease agreements, each titled “Site Lease Agreement Regarding
the Use of the Fruitport Water Tank” (referred to collectively as the “Lease Agreements”). The
County participated in these I.ease Agreements by virtue of the Bond Financing. Thus, each of
the Lease Agreements was entered into among the City, the Township, the County, and the
following three cellular telephone service providers on the following dates: (i) New Cingular
Wireless PCS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, on August 24, 2005 (attached as
Exhibit A); (i) iPCS Wireless, Inc., a Delaware corporation, on August 30, 2008 (attached as
Exhibit B), and (iii) MetroPCS Michigan, Inc., a Delaware corporation, on May 14, 2009 (attached
as Exhibit C).

E. Following the retirement of the Bond Financing, the City, the Township, and the
County, as the “Assignors,” have agreed to transfer, convey, and assign all of their rights, title,
interests, and obligations in, to, and under the Water Supply Infrastructure and the Lease




Agreements to the Authority, and the Authority has agreed to accept such assignment and assume
all of the rights and obligations of the Assignors. The Assignors do not assign the Bond Financing
to the Authority, because the Assignors shall perform all obligations under the Bond Financing.

F. The Parties now wish to memorialize the terms and conditions of the Assignors’
transfer and assignment, and the Assignee’s acceptance and assumption, of such interests as set
forth below in this Agreement.

Agreement

I. Incorporation of Recitals and Effective Date. The above recitals are made a part of
this Agreement. The Effective Date shall be immediately after all of the Parties have approved
and executed this Agreement, and the Bond Financing has been completed by the payment in full
of the bonds.

2. Incorporation of Exhibits. The following exhibits are made a part of this
Assignment: (i) Exhibit A, B, and C - copies of each of the Lease Agreements; (ii) Exhibit D —
the City’s duly authorized resolutions to make the assignment referenced in this Agreement to the
Authority; (iii) Exhibit E — the Township’s duly authorized resolutions to make the assignment
referenced in this Agreement to the Authority; (iv) Exhibit F — the County’s duly authorized
resolutions to make the assignment referenced in this Agreement to the Authority; and (v) Exhibit
G — the Authority’s duly authorized resolutions to accept the assignment referenced in this
Agreement from the City, the Township, and the County.

3. Assignment. As of the Effective Date, the Assignors transfer and assign to the
Assignee all of the Assignors’ rights, title, interests, and obligations in, to, and under the Water
Supply Infrastructure and the Lease Agreements. Additionally, for purposes of clarification, it is
the intent of the Parties that the rights, title, and interests of the Assignors to all account balances
related to funds received under the Lease Agreements are also being transferred and assigned to
Assignee as of the Effective Date. The Assignors do not assign the Bond Financing to the
Assignee, but rather are obligated to perform all obligations to retire the Bond Financing,

4, Acceptance and Assumption. As of the Effective Date, the Assignee accepts the
transfer and assighment made by the Assignors, and agrees: (i} to assume all obligations and
responsibility of the Assignors for the Water Supply Infrastructure, as may be required by
applicable law and governed by any contracts separate from this Agreement; and (ii) to assume alt
obligations of the Assignors as to the performance of all of the terms, covenants, and conditions
of the Lease Agreements. The Assignee assumes no compliance obligations of the Assignors with
respect to any remaining requirements or liabilities related to the Bond Financing; rather, the
Assignors are obligated to perform ali duties to terminate the Bond Financing,

5. Further Assurances and Cooperation. The Parties agree to execute and deliver such
further instruments as any of the Assignors or the Assignee may reasonably require from time to
time to effectuate the transfer and assignment accomplished by this Agreement; provided,
however, that if a Party requests another Party to execute and deliver any further instrument(s),




then the Party to whom the request is made will have the right to reasonably approve the form and
substance of such instrament(s) before being required to sign the same.

6. Indemnifications.

(a) The Assignors. Each of the Assignors agrees to indemnify and hold the
Assignee harmless from and against all liabilities, costs, or damages arising under the Water
Supply Infrastructure, the Lease Agreements, and the Bond Financing by reason of the failure of
any of the Assignors, before the Effective Date, to fully comply with any and all of its duties,
covenants, and obligations, as applicable, as to the Water Supply Infrastructure, the Lease
Agreements, and the Bond Financing. For purposes of clarification, the Assignors are not agreeing
to be jointly and severally liable for each other’s liabilities, costs, or damages arising under the
Water Supply Infrastructure, the Lease Agreements, and the Bond Financing, as each of the
Assignors was subject to different duties, covenants, and obligations prior to the Effective Date.

(b)  The Assignee. The Assignee agrees to indemnify and hold each of the
Assignors harmless from and against any liabilities, costs, or damages arising under the Water
Supply Infrastructure and the Lease Agreements by reason of the Assignee’s failure, affer the
Effective Date, to fully comply with any and all of its duties, covenants, and obligations as to the
Water Supply Infrastructure and the Lease Agreements. The Assignee accepts no responsibility
or obligations with regard to the Bond Financing.

7. The Assignors’ Representations and Warranties. Each of the Assignors separately
represents and warrants for itself (and itself only) to the Assignee as follows:

(a) The Assignor has taken all necessary action to duly approve and authorize
this Agreement, and the Assignor has the right to make the transfer and assignment provided in
this Agreement.

(b) There are no claims pending or threatened before any tribunal or
administrative or regulatory authority that would materially impair the Assignor’s right to make
the transfer and assignment provided in this Agreement,

(¢)  Any and all material liabilities of any nature, whether accrued, absolute,
contingent or otherwise, relating to the Water Supply Infrastructure, the Lease Agreements, and
the Bond Financing, have been previously disclosed to the Assignee and are referenced on the
attachment to this Agreement at Exhibit H.

8. The Assignee’s Representations and Warranties. The Assignee represents and
warrants as follows:

(a) The Assignee has taken all necessary action to duly approve and authorize
this Agreement, and the Assignee has the right to accept the transfer and assignment provided in
this Agreement.




(b)  There are no claims pending or threatened before any tribunal or
administrative or regulatory authority, except those that have been previously disclosed separate
from this Agreement to the Assignors, that would materially impair the Assignee’s right to accept
the transfer and assignment provided in this Agreement.

9. Notices. All notices or other communications to be given under this Agreement
shall be deemed as sent when dispatched by regular, registered, or certified mail, postage prepaid,
or by hand delivery addressed or delivered to the address as follows:

Ifto the City:

Attn: City Administrator

4814 Henry Street

Norton Shores, Michigan 49441

If to the Township:

Attn; Township Supervisor
5865 Airline Road
Fruitport, Michigan 49415

If'to the County:

Attn: Administrator

990 Terrace Street
Muskegon, Michigan 49442

If to the Authority:
Attn: Chairperson
4814 Henry Street
Norton Shores, Michigan 49441

The Parties may, by notice given under this Agreement, designate any further or different
address to which subsequent notices or other communications may be sent.

10. Assignment. This Agreement is not assignable by any Party, and each Party
acknowledges and agrees that such Party will not assign or transfer its rights under the Agreement
without the prior written consent from each of the other Parties.

11.  Legally Binding. All of the covenants, terms, and conditions contained in this
Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties’ successors, assigns, and
legal representatives,

12.  No Third Parties. Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended to
confer upon any person, other than the Parties and their respective successors or permitted assigns,
any rights or remedies whatsoever.




13.  Construction. The Parties acknowledge and agree that each of them participated
equally in the drafting of this Assignment. Any rule to the effect that the Assignment is to be
construed more strictly against one Party than another is not applicable.

14.  Governing Law. This Agreement will be construed in all respects in accordance
with the laws of the State of Michigan.

15.  Captions and Headings. The captions or headings of this Agreement are for
convenience only and in no way define, limit, or describe the scope or intent of any provision of
this Agreement.

16.  Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the
Parties and there are no other representations, warranties, promises, guarantees, or agreements,
oral or written, expressed or implied, between the Parties with respect to this Agreement.

17.  Amendments. This Agreement may not be amended, changed, modified, or altered
without the express written consent of each Party.

18.  Severability. In the event any provisions of this Agreement shall be held invalid or
unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render
unenforceable any other provision of this Agreement.

19.  Waiver. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement will be deemed or
constitute a waiver of any other provision, whether or not similar, nor will any waiver be a
continuing waiver. No waiver will be binding unless executed in writing by the Party giving the
waiver.

20.  Counterparts. This Agreement may be simultaneously executed in counterparts,
each of which will be an original and all of which will constitute one and the same instrument.

[Signatures on following page]




Signature Page

Assignment and Assumption Agreement among
the City of Norton Shores, Fruitport Charter Township, the County of Muskegon, and the
West Michigan Regional Water Authority

Fach of the Parties have authorized the signing of this Agreement by their respective duly
anthorized officers all effective as of the Effective Date.

THE CITY

City of Norton Shores

N 227 / Y

Bi\e\‘ﬂ‘\z C. /U{(u »\J

Its:
s e
THE TOWNSHIP

Fruitport Charter Township

Date Signed:
By: .
Its:

THE COUNTY

County of Muskegon

Date Signed:

By:
Its:

THE AUTHORITY

West Michigan Regional Water Authority

Date Signed.

By:
Its:

GRAPIDS 76754-1 585842v3




EXHIBIT A

Copy of the Lease Agreement for New Cingular Wireless PCS, LI.C




¥

Fi:Y

SITE LEASE AGREEMENT
REGARDING THE USE OF THE
FRUITPORT WATER TANK

A. Owners — The Owners,' for the purpose of this Lease, will be Township of Fruitport, City

of Norton Shores and County of Muskegon, Owner’s representative for all contact and
access shall be Mr. Bob Alder, Fruitport Public Works Ditector, Mr. Alder' may be

contacted at (231) 865-3151 or faxed at (231) 865-3118.

. Lessee — Tho Lessce shall b Néw. Cisigillar Wirsless PCS, LLC, A Delaware limited

liability company, having a mailing address of 6100 Atlantic Boulevard, Notcross, GA
30071. The Lessce’s designated representative shall be Nick Dooley who can be
contacted at (248) 613-0017 or faxed at (248) 356-4151. The designated representative
shell be the person authorized to request access to the Site and be the person contacted for

communication purposes.

Communication — Communication between the Owners and NEW CINGULAR.

' WIRELESS shall be performed through their respective representatives listed above,

This will prevent unauthorized entrance to the Site and will minimize the chances for
miscommunication between the parties.

1, Leased Site - NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS will be allowed a 200 square foot area
(10 feet x 20 feet) outside of the tower base but close to it for the purpose of locating
electrical cabinet and equipment including electrical service and telephone service, -

2. Term - The initial term (“Initial Term™) of this Lease shall be for a period of five
(5) years commencing on the date the Lease is executed on behalf of NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS (the “Commencement Date™). ‘

_ 00/mionth per anténna’as per print
submitted for the first year with a 3% isicrease pe for the remaining périod of
the Lease, Rent payment for each month shall be due on the fifth day of that month.
Rental payments shall commence beginning with the month that the Antenna Facility
is put into service. Rent payment for the first month shall be prorated for the amount
of days the Antenna Facility is in service, and payment for the first month is due no
later than one week after the Antenna Facility is placed into service, Rental paymenis
received after the fifth of the month shall be assessed a 10% penalty. Rental

payments shall be sent to;

Muskegon County Departent of Public Works
131 E. Apple Avenue, 4™ floor
Muskegon, MI 49442




Rental payments shall be deposited in the Fruitport-Norton Shores regional Water
Fund with Muskegon County.

The Muskegon County Department of Public Works should be contacted at the above
address by the Lessee with any rental payment questions or concerns. :

For any rental payment questions or concerns such as late payments Muskegon
County Department of Public Works should contact;

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC at

Attn: Wireless Asset Management

Re: Cell Site #GRANMIA663; Cell Site Name: Fruftport WT
P. O, Box 2088

Rancho Cordova, CA 957412088

4. Renewal Option ~ the term of this lease may be extended by NEW CINGULAR
WIRELESS for three additional five year periods provided that NEW CINGULAR
WIRELESS gives the Owner notice of its intention to extend the term of this lease at
least ninety days prior to the expiration of the current term. Owner has the option of
renegotiating terms of the lease for each extension beyond the original lease period,
Lease petiod shall be extended only with Owner approval. Owner approval shall not
be unreasonably withheld such that NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS® service would
be disrupted. Monetary compensation for use of the facilities shall remain as stated in
paragraph #3 of this lease unless one of the following ocour:

A, Number of antennae or appurtenances on tower has increased during
previous lease period or type of antennae or appurtenances has changed,

B. Rate of inflation during the final two years of the previous lease period
has averaged an increase equal fo or greater than 3 percent.

5. Possession — NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall be allowed use of the Site
beginning on the Commencement Date, :

6. Use of Premises —

A. NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS may use the property for the
 installation, operation and maintenance of its Antenna Facilities for the
transmission, reception and operation of a communications system and
uses incidental thereto in accerdance with the terms of this lease, and for
the storage of related equipment provided that such equipment be
contained within the ground area provided for in section 1 of this
agreement. The Owner may permit others to use portions of the water
tower. NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS' installation of all such antenna
facilities shall be done according to the plans and specifications




approved by the Owner, Plans and specifications for any installation or
maintenance of ‘a structural nature shall be reviewed by the Owner’s
engineer. Owner’s engineer shall be selected by the Owner and paid for
by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS for work associated with the review
of plans and inspection of work performed on the NEW CINGULAR
WIRELESS system., NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall be strictly
liable for any contamination caused to the water in the tower or damage
done to the water tower and/or the site during installation and/or during
operations by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS or any of its contractors
or suppliers. Any contamination caused to the water in the tower or in
the system by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS or any of jts
subcontractors or employees shall be refnedied by the Owner at the sole
cost of NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS, Any event which may be ths
cause of a contamination problem shall be reported to the Owner
immediately upon ifs occurrence. Any damage caused to the tank or the
site during installation or operations of the Antenna Facility shall be
repaired or replaced at the Owner’s discretion and at the expense of
NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS to the Owner’s sole satisfaction.

B. NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall, at its expense, comply with all

present and fiture federal state and local laws, ordinances, rules and

regulations (including, but not limited to, laws rolating to health, radio
frequency emissions, other radiation, safety, OSHA and MIOSHA),
where applicable, in contiection with the use, operation, construction,
maintenance and/or installation of the Antenna Facilities and/or
premises.  Owner agrees to Teasonably cooperate with NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS in obtaining any federal Heenses and permits
required for or substantially required by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS’
use of the premises and all costs incurred by the Owner to aid NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS shall be reimbursed by NEW CINGULAR
WIRELESS to the Owner, including postage, shipping, labor, costs of
reproduction or any other cests which can be atiributed to the securing of

the permits,

. Upon termination of this lease, if requested by the Owner to do so, NEW

CINGULAR WIRELESS shall remove the Antenna Facilities and all
supporting structures and related hardware and equipment which are not

‘shared or used by another user of the water tower. Such removal shall be

in 2 workmanlike and careful manner and without interference or damage
to the water tower, the water in the fower or sysfem, or any other
equipment, structures or operations on the site, including use of the site
by the Owner or any of the Owner’s assignees or lessess, Removal shall
be completed within 30 calendar days of the day NEW CINGULAR
WIRELESS receives the notification to remove the antenna facilities,
Owner’s engineer shall observe all removal and shall inspect for damage,
the Owner’s site, water tower and all other facilities associated with




NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS® use of the water tank. Engincer shall
make a report to the Owner of any damage and recommended repairs,
Repairs shall be made by the Owner or a contractor hired by the Owaer,
and all costs of repairs and the costs of the engincer shall be paid for by
NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS.

D. The Owner reserves the right to install additional bracketing material or
similar structural supports to allow for the co-location of other lessees’
antenna or similar radiating or broadcasting equipment. The Owner
agrees that, should the Owner desire to allow co-location on its water
tower, reasonable and necessary assurances will be made to NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS that such co-location will not cause harm to
NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS’ antenna or radiating equipment.

E. Permission shall be secured from the Owner any time that NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS personnel or personnel of any contractor or
supplier employed by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS desires to enter
the tank structure, NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS may place their own
padlock in tandem with Fruitport Township’s lock on the gates to the
site, thereby allowing NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS or its designated
personnel 24 hour per day/7 day per week access to the site. Should
emergoncy access to the tower structure be required, the following
contact persons/numbers shall be used:

1. Bob Alder  (231) 865-3158 work
- (231) 773-0307 home
(231)397-1716  pager

2. Dale Hilliard (231) 865-3158 work
_ (231)788-23%96 home
(231) 351-06%4 pager

7. Antenna Replacement — NEW .CINGULAR WIRELESS may update or replace the
Antenna Facilities from time to time with the prior written approval of the Owner,
provided that the replacement facilities are not preater in number or size than the
existing facilities and that any change in their location on the tower is satisfactory to
the Owner. Owner shall have a period of 90 days to grant approval, during which
time, Owner may employ an engineer to review plans and specifications for NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS® proposed modifications. Engineer shall also inspeet tank
and site prior to installation of modifications, perform inspection of the installation of
the modifications and perform an inspection after installation of the modifications and
submit a report to the Owner. Engineer services shall be secured by the Owner and
paid for by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS.

8. Mainfenance —
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A, NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall, at its own expense, maintain any
antenna facilities on or attached to the premises in a safe condition, in good
repair and in a manner suitable to the Owner so as not to conflict with the
use of, or other leasing of the tower by the Owner. In earrying out its
maintenance responsibilities, NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall not in
any way interfere with the use or operations of the water tower, the

- premises, related facilities and/or any other property or equipment owned
by other tenants or the Owner. ,

B. NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall have sole responsibility for the
maintenance, repair and scowrity of ifs equipment, personal property,
Antenna Facilities and leasehold improvements and shall keep the same in
good repair and condition for the life of this Lease.

C. NEW CINGULAR WIRFLESS shall keep the premises free of debris and
anything of a dangerous, noxious or offensive nature ot which would create
a hazard or undue vibration, heat, noise or interference.

Utilities — Owner agrees to cooperate with NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS in NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS® efforts to obtain electric and other utilities from any
location provided by the servicing utility. NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall
contract directly with the necessary utility companies to provide service to NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS® facilities. Accounts shall be in the name of NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS and shall in no way involve the Owner, All charges for
monthly service, installation or de-installation costs shall be the sole responsibility of
NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS and shall be billed directly to NEW CINGULAR
WIRELESS by the utilify. Owner shall provide an acceptable easement for utilities to
run their lines from the property line to NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS’ facilities.

10. Taxes —~ NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall be responsible for paying all personal

11

12.

property taxes assessed directly upon and arising solely from its own use of the
Antenna Faciliﬁes on the site during the term of this lease.

Use of Technmrans/lnspectms — Not withstanding anything contained herein to the
contrary, in order to protect the health, welfare and safety of its residents, the Owner
shall have the right fo have a technician and/or inspector witness all work done at the
site by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS or its contractors, Accordingly, NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS shall give the Owner advanced notice of all non-emergency

- work to be performed on the site. For emergency work, NEW CINGULAR

WIRELESS shall give the Owner as much advanced notice as reasonably practicable,
In any case NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall obtain keys to the facility from the
Owner each time access is required and shall promptly return keys to the Owner upon
completion of the work.

Interference — NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS® installation, 6perat1’on and

. mainfenance of its transmission facilities shall not damage or interfere in any way
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with the Owner’s water tower operations including repairs or maintenance to the
water tower or with the activities of any -other tenants of the water tower. Owner, at
all times during the life of this lease, reserves the right to take any action it deerns
necessary, in its sole discretion, to repair, maintain, alter or improve the premises in
connection with the water tower operations as may be necessary, including leasing
parts of the water tower and surrounding ground space to others.

If the Owner receives a request for co-location on the water tower from any third-
party, it shall submit a proposal complete with all technical specifications reasonably
requested by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS to NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS for
review for non-interference; however, Owner shall not be required to provide NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS with any specifications or information claimed to be of &
proprietary nature by the third party. The third parfy shall be responsible for
preparing technical specifications for its proposed transmission facility. NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS shall have thirty (30) oalendar days following receipt of
said proposal to make any objections thereto, ‘and failure to make any objection
within said thirty (30} day perfod shall be deemed consent by NEW CINGULAR
WIRELESS to the installation of antennae or transmission facilities pursuant to said
proposal. If NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS gives notice of objection due to
interference during such thirty(30) day period and NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS’
objections are vetified by the Owner to be valid, then the Owner shall not proceed

-with the proposal. NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall furnish the Owner with all

required technical specifications reasonably requested in order that Owner may be
able to verify any objection raised by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS. Failure or
refusal on the part of NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS to provide the required
technical specifications within a reasonable time as set forth at the time of Owner’s
request, shall render NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS® objection void and Owner may

proceed with third party leasing,

Insurance — NEW CINGULAR WIRBLESS shall maintain, at its sole expense
during the Term of this Lease commercial general lability insurance insuring NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS against liability for personal injury, death or damage to
personal property arising out of the use of the site by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS,
Such insurances shall be in the amount not less than $1,000,000.00 ($1 million) per
ocourrence for each personal injury, death and property damage. NEW CINGULAR
WIRELESS shall carry an excess umbrella liability policy in the amount not less than
$2,000,000.00 ($2 million), which shall not exclude the payment of all costs incurred
to' remedy a confamination event to the public water system caused by NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS or any of fis contractors or suppliers per occurrence, NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS shall carry all’ proper insurances, and in amounts as
prescribed by law, on its employees and contractors including, but not limited to,
unemployment and workers compensation insurance. NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS
shall provide the Owner with valid certificates of all required insurances and in the
required amounts, prior to being allowed to enter the site. Insurance carrier’s

- certificate shall show evidence that it has insured NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS for

all liabilities under this Lease and that it will not cancel nor change any policy of
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insurance issued to NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS except for after thirty (30) days
notice in writing has been supplied fo the Owner, Ownier(s) shall be added to the
policy as additional insured. The fact that NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS is required
to furnish insurance in accordance with this paragraph or the fact that such insurance
is furnished does not and shall not relieve NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS from its
obligations to Owner under the provisions of Paragraph 17 of this Lease for any
deficiency, amount of which NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS is responsible fo the
Owner, Owner shall insure the property and building of which the site is part thereof,
as the case may be, against loss or damage under a policy or policies of fire and .
extended coverage. All of Owner’s and NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS® policies of
insurance shall include a standard waiver of subrogation clause or endorsement,

‘Owner and NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS each hereby waive all right of recovery

against the other for losses covered by insurance.

-All contractors employed by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS and all subcontractors

or any persons authorized by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS to enter the site shall
furnish to Owner, prior to Owner’s permission to enter the site, certificates made out
to Owner evidencing insurances in the same amounts as those required by NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS and under the same terms and conditions above required
for NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS® insurance, Owner(s) shall be named insured on
each of these policies. Alternatively, NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS may cover
each or any of their contractors or suppliers on NEW CINGULAR WIREILESS’
insurance policy, afl limits to be the same as NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS’ own
coverage, Certificates showing covered contractors or suppliers as additional insured
shall be forwarded to the Owner(s} prior to such contractors or suppliers being

allowed to enter the site,

NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS’ Property — All Antenna Facilities installed by
NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS at the site shall remain the property of NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS and shall not be subject to any lien or encumbrance of
Owner or any third party acting pursuant to an agreement with the Owner.

Damage to Owner’s Facilities - NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall exercise all
necessary precautions to avoid damage to the water tower, including contamination
caused to the water supply and subject to the waivers contained in this Lease, hereby
assumes all responsibility for any and all loss or damage to such facilities caused by
NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS or any petson or company authorized by NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS to perform work of any kind on the site. NEW

. CINGULLAR WIRELESS shall repott any damage caused by NEW CINGULAR

WIRELESS, -or any person or company -authorized by NEW CINGULAR
WIRELESS to work on the site, to the Owner immediately. NEW CINGULAR
WIRELESS shall reimburse Owner for all costs of repairs including the costs for any
required engineering and the costs for inspection of the damage before repair and
after repair by the engineer and a report by the engineer to the Owner certifying that

all repairs have been made properly. :




16, Water Tower Maintenance — The Owner shall maintain in good order and repair the

water tower so that it will adequately support all of NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS’
Antenna Facilities. Owner shall not be responsible for making any struétural changes
to the water tower to facilitate the placement of NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS®
Antenna Facilities, nor for making any modifications to the water tower 1o facilitate
any changes of or modifications to NEW -CINGULAR WIRELESS’ Antenna

Facilities.

When maintenance to the outside coating on the water tower is required, NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS shall do one of the following two options: NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS shall, at NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS’ sole expenss,
temporarily relocate their antennae on a separate tower to be temporarily erected by
NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS adjacent to the water tower, same to be removed
immediately upon completion of water tower maintenance and site restored to.
original conditions, OR, NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall pay to Owner, in one
lump sum payment, at the time the mdintenance is performed, the difference in cost
between what the maintenance operations would cost the Owner with the antennas
and without the antennae on the water tower, Contractorto perform the maintenance
shall be of the Ownet’s choosing. Owner shall provide NEW CINGULAR
WIRELESS with copies of the quotation for mainfenance both with NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS’ equipmment located on the water tower and without NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS’ equipment located on the water tower.

Owner shall not make any guarantee to NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS that service
will remain completely uninterrupted. Should it become necessary, for the safety of
the water, the water system or the water tank, to perform an operation which Tequires
the disconnection of the Antenna Facilities, Owner shall make a disconnection of the
Antenna Facilities, Owner will notify NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS as soon as
practicably possible of such disconnection and shall take reasonable care in the
handling of the equipment to avoid damage to the extent reasonably possible. Owner
shall not disrupt NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS’ service except in cases of extretne
emergency, as defined by Owner at time of incident, including, but not necessarily
limited to, threats to public health, imminent structural failure, threats to the water
system in general or rescue- operations. Owner shall give NEW CINGULAR
WIRELESS as much advanced notice of the intent to disrupt service as reasonably

* possible prior to commencing the disruption,. NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shal!
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be allowed, if time allows under the oircumstances, to make such disconnections or to
witness the disconnection, .

Indemnity — NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS agrees to indemnify, defend, and save
harmless the Owner, its agents and employees, from and against all loss or expense
(including costs and attorney fees) by reason of liability imposed by law upen the
Owner for damages because of bodily injury, including death at any time resulting
there from, sustained by any person or persons or on account of damage to property,
including loss of use thereof, arising out of or in the consequence of the use of the
site, whether such injuries to person or damage to property is due to the negtigence of




NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS, its contractors or any person or company authorized
by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS fo be on the site or the Owner. This indemnity
shall extend to any liability of loss arising from contamination of the water system or
the site or the environment-as provided for in Paragraph 18 below, This indemnity
shall not apply to intentional misconduct by the Owner.

Owner shall indemnify and hoId harmless NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS from any
and all costs (including, but not limited to reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs)
and claims of liability or loss which arise out of the use and/or ocoupancy of the site
by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS due solely to acts of intentional misconduct by

the Owner.

18. Hazardous Substaneces — Owner represents that it has no knowledge, nor should it
have any knowledge, of any substance, chemical or waste (collectively, “Substance’)
on the site which is identified as” hazardous, toxic or dangerous in any applicable
federal, state or local law or regulation. NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS agrees not to

.introduce or use any Substance on the site in violation of any applicable law. Any
chemicals of any kind, including solvents, cleaning solutions, paints and thinners or
any chemical of any type not already -present on the site, brought in by NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS or its contractors or any person or company authorized by
NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS to be on the site shall be declared to the Owner in
advance and the Material Safety Data Sheet (MSDS sheet) shall be furnished to the
Owmner prior to permission being given to NEW CD\IGULAR WIRELESS by the

Owner for use of the chemical on the site.

Owmer reserves the right to introduce onto the site at any time any Substahce ag
defined above, which in the opiniofi of the Owner is applicable to the treatment of
potable water or as necessary to be used in the course of maintenance of the water
tower or site. Such materials may be stored by Owner on the site. Owner shall
furnish NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS with MSDS sheets for any such Substance
brought onto the site which NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS personnel, its contractors
or any person ot company authorized by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS to be on the
site tay come into contact with during reasonable course of required activity on the

site.

19. Assignment — This Lease may be freely assigned by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS
provided that no assignment shall relieve NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS of any of
its obligations under this Lease, and provided further, that no assignee may use the

- water tower for other than a PCS communications system without the express written
consént of the Owner. Upon such consent, any assignee assumes all applicable rights

-and- obligations of this Lease. Any assignee to which this Lease may be dssigned
without Owners consent shall be bound by all terms and conditions of this Lease,
especially those terms regarding insurance, Hability and safety in the use of the site, -

20. Condemnation — If all or substantially all of Owner’s property upon which the site is
located is condemned by an authorized governmenfal or quasi-governmental




authority, this Lease shall terminate upon the date of taking and each party shall have
the right to maintain their own respective actions against the condemning authority
for their respective damages and neither party shall have any interest in any award
granted to the other, If a taking occurs, the rent shall be prorated to the date of the
taking, and any excess propaid rent shall be promptly repaid to NEW CINGULAR

'WIRELESS.

21, Termination — NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall have the right to terminate this
Lease at any time if (f) NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS cannot obtain all certificates,
permits, licenses or other approvals (collectively, “Approvals”) required from any
povernmental authority and/or easements required from any third party to operate its
communications facility; (if) such Approvals are canceled, expire, lapse, withdrawn
or terminated; (iii} Owner fails to hold legal title to the property on which the site is
focated; (iv) Owner does not have the legal right to enter into this Lease; or (v) for
any other reason, NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS, in its sole discretion, determines
that it will be unable to use the site for the use intended by this Lease. However,
should NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS elect to terminate this Lease for any of the
above reasons, NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall still be liable to Owner for any
costs, charges or other fees which the Owner contracted for or has already paid out as
required by any section of this Lease prior to the date Owner receives notification
from NEW CINGULAR WIRFELESS of intent to terminate.

Owner may terminate this Lease if NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS ceases operations
at the site continyously for more than one (1) year. Owner may also terminate this
Lease if NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS reneges on any payments due the Owner,
becomes 90 days in arrears on rent payments or other payments due Owner, threatens
the water supply by its actions or those of its contractors, threatens the structural
integrity of the water tower or installs or operates the Antenna Facility which in any
way impedes the operation of the water tower or threatens the safety of water system

personnel,

Upon termination of this Lease, NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall remove all
equipment including, but not limited tfo, antennae, cables, supports and eleotrical -
equipment. This shall be accomplished within a period of 60 calendar days upon
termination. NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS shall be liable, upon removal of
equipment, for the cost of Owner to have engineer certify that removal of the
equipment has not damaged the water tower or other or the Owner’s facilities located

on the site.

22. Notices — All notices shall be .in writing and shall be sent by U.S. certified mail,
return receipt requested, or by overnight express delivery to the address of the party
set forth above or as otherwise directed in writing by such party of as provided under
applicable state law. Notice is deemed as of the date of delivery as shown on the
return receipt of on the date of delivery of an express delivery as evidenced by the

signature of the receiving party.
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Ifto Lessee:

New Cingular Witeless PCS LLC

Attn: Wireless Asset Management

Re: Cell Site #GRANMIA663; Cell Site Name: Fruitport WT
P. O. Box 2088

Rancho Cordova, CA 95741-2088

AND

New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC

Atin: Network Real Esiate Administration

Re: Cell Site #GRANMI4663; Cell Site Name: Fruitport WT
6100 Atlantic Boulevard

Norcross, GA 30071

With a copy to:
New Cingular Wireless PCS, LLC

Atin: Legal Department

Re: Cell Site #GRANMI4663; Cell Sife Name: Fruitport WT
15 E. Midland Avenue

Paramus, NJ 07652

If to Owniers; :
Muskegon County Deparhnent of Public Works

131 E. Apple Avetine, 4™ Floor
Muskegon, MI 49442

23. Compliance with Laws — Owner represents that Owner’s property (including,
without limitation, the site) and all improvements thereto, are in compliance with ali
building Ixfe/safety, disability and other laws, codes and regulations of any
governmental or quasi-governmental authority, NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS
agrees that, subject to Owner’s compliance with the terms of this paragraph, any
improvements constructed by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS on the site and all
operations of NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS within the sife shall be in compliance

with all applicable laws, codes and regulations.

24, Miscellaneous —

A.  Owner represents and warrants that Owner has full authority to enfer into
and sign this Lease.

B.  The terms and conditions of the Lease shall extend to and bind the heirs,
personal representatives, successors and assigns of Owner and NEW

CINGULAR WIRELESS.
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The prevailing party in any action or proceeding in court to enforce the terms
of this Lease shall be entitled to receive its reasonable attorney fees and
other reasonable enforcement costs and expenses from the non-prevailing

party.
This Lease shall be construed pursuant to the laws of the State of Michigan,

This site Lease may not be amended or modified unless the Owner and NEW
CINGULAR WIRELESS consent in writing to the amendment or
modification.

This Lease contains all agreements, promises and understandings between
Owner and NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS. All exhibits are incorporated
by reference.

No signs may be installed on the site by NEW CINGULAR WIRELESS
with the exception of wamning labels required on certain electrical equipment
or other waming labels required by OSHA or MIOSHA regulations.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Fruitport Township/City of Norton Shores water tank usage lease has been duly
oxccuted as of the dates set forth in the notarfal acknowledgements balow, to be effective for all purposes as of the

date first above writfen,

WITNESS: _
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EXHIBIT B

Copy of the Lease Agreement for iPCS Wireleses, Inc.




Spriatf Uexde]

SYTE LEASE AGREEMENT
REGARDING THE USE OF THE
FRUITPORT WATER TANK

A, Owners — The Owners, for the purpose of this Lease, will be the Charter Township of
Frujtport, City of Norton Shores and County of Muskegon, Owner’s representative for
all contact and access shall be Mr, Dale Les, Fruitport Charter Township Interim Utility
Director. Mr. Lee may be contacted at (231) 865-3158 or faxed at (231) 865-3118,

" B. Lessee — The Lessee shall be iP: S Wireless, Inc,, {(iPCS) a Delaware corporation having
a mailing address of 648 N, CIncago St., Geneseo 1L 61254, The Lessee’s designated
representative shall be Nathan Olson, Property Manager who can be contacted at (616)
656-5161 or faxed at (616) 554-6484. The designated representative shall be the person
authorized to request access to the Site and be the person contacted for communication

purposes.

C. Communication — Communication between the Owners and iPCS shall be performed
through their respective representatives listed above. This will prevent unauthorized
entrance to the Site and will mlmmlze the chances for miscommunication between the

parties.

1. Leased Site iPCS will be allowed a 200 square foot area (10 feet x 20 feet) outside of
the tower base but close to it for the purpose of locating electrical cabinet and
equipment including electrical service and telephone service,

2. Term — The initial term (“Initia] Term”) of this Lease shall be for a period of five
(5) years commencing on the date the Lease is executed on behalf of iPCS (the

“Commencement Date™).

3. Rental — initial rent for use of the Site shall be $650,00/month per send and receive
(pait) antenna installation as per print submitted for the first year with é_3
p‘g“-' ' for the remaining period of the Lease. Rent payment for each month shall be
due on the fifth day of that month. Rental payments shall commence beginning with
the month that the Antehna Facility is put into service. Rent payment for the first
" month shall be prorated for the amount of days the Antenna Facility is in service, and
- payment for the first month is due no later than one week after the Antenna Faeility is
placed into service. Rental payments received after the (5™ fifth of the month shall
be assessed a 10% penalty. Rental payments shall be sent to:

Muskegon County Department of Public Works
131 E. Apple Avenue, 4" floor
Muskegon, MI 49442




Rental payments shall be deposited in the Fruitport-Norton Shores regional Water
Fund with Muskegon County.

The Muskegon County Department of Public Works should be contacted at the above
address by the Lessee with any rental payment questions or concerns.

For any rental payment questions or concerns such as late payments Muskegon
County Department of Public Works should contact:

iPCS Wireless, Ine.

648 N. Chicago St
QGeneseo, 1L, 61254
Atin; Lease Management

4, Renewal Option — the term of this leass may be extended by IPCS for three
additional five year periods provided that iPCS gives the Owner notice of its intention
to extend the term of this lease at least ninety days prior to the expiration of the
current term, Owner has the option of renegotiating terms of the lease for each
extension beyond the original lease period, Lease period shall be extended only with
Owner approval. Owner approval shall not be unreasonably withheld such that iPCS’
service would be disrupted. Monetary compensation for use of the facilities shall
remain as stated in paragraph #3 of this lease unless one of the following oceur;

A. Number of antennae or appurtenances on tower has increased during
previous lease period or type of antennae or appurtenances has changed.

B. Rate of infiation during the final two years of the previous ledse period
has averaged an increase equal to or greater than 3 percent,

5. Possession — iPCS shall be allowed use of the Site beginning on the Commencement
Date.

6. Use of Premises —

A. iPCS may use the property for the installation, operation and
maintenance of'its Antenna Facilities for the transmission, reception and
operation of a communications system and uses incidental thereto in
accordance with the terms of this lease, and for the storage of related
equipment provided that such equipment be contained within the ground
area provided for in section I of this agreement. The Owner may permit
others to use portions of the water tower, IPCS’ installation of all such
antenna facilities shall be done according to the plans and specifications
approved by the Owner. Plans and specifications for any installation or
maintenance of a structural nature shall be reviewed by the Owner's




engineer. Owner’s engineer shall be selected by the Owner and paid for
by iPCS for work associated with the review of plans and inspection of
work performed on the iPCS system, iPCS shall be strictly liable for any
contamination caused fo the water in the tower or damage done to the
water tower and/or the site during instaliation and/or during operations
by iPCS or any of its contractors or suppliers. Any contamination”
caused to the water in the tower or in the system by iPCS or any of its
subcontractors or employees shall be remedied by the Owner at the sole
cost of iPCS, Any event which may be the cause of a contamination
problem shall be reported to the Owner immediately upon its occurrence.
Any damage caused to the tank or the site during installation or
operations of the Antenna Facility shall be repaired or replaced at the
Owner’s discretion and at the expense of iPCS to the Owner’s sole
satisfaction.

B. iPCS shall, at its expense, comply with all present and future federal,
state and local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations (including, but not
limited to, laws relating to health, radio frequency emissions, other
radiation, safety, OSHA and MIOSHA), where applicable, in connection
with the use, operation, construction, maintenance and/or installation of
the Antenna Fagcilities and/or premises. Owner agtees to reasonably
cooperate with iPCS in obiaining any federal licenses and permits
required for or substantially required by iPCS’ use of the premises and all
costs incurred by the Owner to aid iPCS shall be reimbursed by iPCS to
the Owner, including postage, shipping, labor, costs of reproduction or
any other costs which can be attributed to the securing of the permits,

C. Upon termination of this lease, if requested by the Owner to do so, iPCS
shall remove the Antenna Facilities and all supporting structures and
related hardware and equipment which are not shared or used by another
user of the waier tower. Such removal shall be in a workmanlike and
careful manner and without interference or damage to the water tower,
the water in the tower or system, or any other equipment, structures or
operations on the site, including use of the site by the Owner or any of the
Owner’s assigness or lessees. Removal shall be completed within 30
calendar days of the day iPCS receives the notification to remove the
antenna facilities. Owner’s engineer shall cbserve all removal and shall
inspect for damage, the Owner’s site, water tower and all other facilities
associated with iPCS’ use of the water tank. Engineer shall make a report
to the Owner of any damage and recommended repairs. Repairs shall be
made by the Owner or a contractor hired by the Owner, and all costs of
repairs and the costs of the engineer shall be paid for by iPCS.

D. The Owner reserves the right to install additional bracketing material or
similar structural supports to allow for the co-location of other lessees’
antenna or similar radiating or broadcasting equipment. The Owner




agrees that, should the Owner desire to allow co-location on its water
tower, reasonable and necessary assurances will be made to IPCS that
such co-location will not cause harm to iPCS’ antenna or radiating

equipment, :

E. Permission shall be ‘secured from the Owner any time that iPCS
personnel or personne! of any contractor or supplier employed by {PCS
desires to enter the tank structure. {PCS may place their awn padlock in
tatidem with Fruitport Township’s lock on the gates to the site, thereby
allowing iPCS or its designated personnel 24 hour per day/7 day per
week access to the site. Should emergency access to the fower structure
be required, the following contact personsiumbers shall be used:

L. Dale Lee (231) 865-3158 work
(231) 777-3732 home
(231) 339-0996 pager

2. Dale Hilliard (231) 865-3158 work
{231) 788-2396 home
(231) 3390774 pager

7. Antenna Replacement — iPCS may update or replace the Antenna Facilities from
time to time with the prior written approval of the Owner, provided that the
replacement facilities are not greater in number or size than the existing facilities and
that any change in their location on the tower is satisfactory to the Owner, Owner
shall have a period of 90 days to grant approval, during which time, Owner may
employ an engineer to review plans and specifications for iPCS’ proposed

" modifications. [Enginesr shall also inspect tank and site prior to installation of
modifications, perform inspection of the installation of the modifications and perform
an inspection after installation of the medifications and submit a report to the Owner,
Engineer services shall be secured by the Owner and paid for by iPCS.

8. Maintenance —

A. IPCS shall, at its own expense, maintain any antenma facilities on or
attached to the premises in a safe condition, in good repair and in a matner
suitable to the Owner so as not to conflict with the use of, -or other leasing
of the tower by the Owner, In carrying out its maintenance responsibilities,
iPCS shall not in any way intetfere with the use or operations of the water
tower, the premises, related facilities and/or any other -propetty or
equipment owned by other tenants or the Owmer.

B. iPCS shall have sole responsibility for the maintenance, repair and security
of its equipment, personal property, Antenna Facilities and leasehold
improvements and shall keep the same in good repair and condition for the

{ife of this Lease,




“C:. iPCS shall keep the premises free of debris and anything of a dangerous,
noxions or offensive nature or which would create 2 hazard or undue
vibration, heat, noise or interference.

Utilities — Owner agrees 1o cooperate with iPCS in {PCS’ efforts to obtain electric
and other utilities from any location provided by the servicing utility, iPCS shall
contract directly with the necessary‘ utility companies to provide service to iPCS’
facilities, Accounts shall be in the name of iPCS and shall in no way involve the
Owner. All charges for monthly service, installation or de-installation costs shall be
the sole responsibility of iPCS and shall be billed directly to iPCS by the utility,
Owner shall provide an acceptable easement for utilities to run their lines from the

propetty litte to iPCS’ facilities.

10. Taxes —~ iPCS shall be responsible for paying all personal property taxes assessed

11

directly upon and arising solely from its own use of the Antenna Facilities on the site
during the term of this lease. :

Use of Techuicians!lnspectors ~ Not withstanding anything contained herein to the
contrary, in order to protect the health, welfare and safety of its residents, the Cwner
shall have the right to have a technician and/or inspector witness all work done at the
site by iPCS or its contractors, Accordingly, iPCS shall give the Owner advanced
notice of all non-energency work to be performed on the site, For emefgency work, -
iPCS shall give the Owner as much advanced notice as reasonably practicable. In any
case IPCS shall obtain keys to the facility from the Owner each time access is
required and shall promptly return keys to the Owner upon completion of the work.

12. Interference — iPCS’ installation, operation and maintenance of its transmission
. facilities shall not damage or interfere in any way with the Owner’s water tower

operations including repairs or mainteniance to the water tower or with the activities
of any other tenants of the water tower. Owner, at all times during the life of this
lease, reserves the right fo take any action it deems necessary, in its sole discretion, to
repait, maintain, alter or improve the premises in connection with the water tower
operations as may be necessary, including leasing parts of the water tawer and
surrounding ground space to others,

" If the Owner receives a request for co-location on the water tower from any third-

party, it shall submit a proposal complete with all technical specifications reasonably
requested by IPCS to IPCS for review for non-interference; however, Owner shall not
be required to provide IPCS with any specifications or information claimed to be of a
propnetary nature by the third party. The third party shall be responsible for
preparing technical specifications for its proposed transmission facility, IPCS shall
have thirty (30) calendar days following receipt of said proposal to make any
objettions thereto, and failure to make any objection within said thirty (30) day
period shall be deemed consent by iPCS to the installation of antennas or
transmission facilities pursuant to said proposal. If iPCS gives notice of objection
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due to interference during such thirty (30) day period and iPCS’ objections are
verified by the Owner to be valid, then the Owner shall not proceed with the
proposal, iPCS shall furnish the Owner with all required technica! specifications
reasonably requested in order that Owner may be able to verify any objection raised
by iPCS. Failure or refusal on the part of IPCS to provide the required technical
specifications within a reasonable time as set forth af the time of Owner’s request,
shall render iPCS* objection void and Owner may proceed with third party leasing,

Insurance — iPCS shall maintain, at its sole expense during the Term of this Lease
commercial general liability insurance insuring iPCS against liability for personal
injury, death or damage to personal property arising out of the use of thie site by iPCS.
Such insurances shall be in the amount not less than $1,000,000.00 (31 million) per
occurrence for each personal injury, death and property damage. iPCS shall carry an
excess umbrella liability policy in the amount not less than $2,000,000.00 (32
million), which shall rof exclude the payment of all costs incurred to remedy a
contamination event to the public water system caused by iPCS or any of its
contractors or suppliers per occurrence, iPCS shall carry all proper insurances, and in
amounts as prescribed by law, on its employees and conttactors including, but not
limited to, unemployment and workers compensation insurance, iPCS shall provide
the Owner with valid certificates of all required insurances and in the required

* amounts, prior to being allowed to enter the sits. Insurance carrier’s certificate shall

show evidence that it has insured iPCS for all liabilities under this Lease and that it
will not cancel nor change any policy of insurance issued to iPCS except for after
thirty (30) days notice in writing has been supplied to the Owner, Owner(s) shall be
added to the policy as additional insured. The fact that iPCS is required to furnish
insurance in accordance with this paragraph or the fact that ‘such insurance is
furnished does not and shall not relieve IPCS from ifs obligations to Owner under the
provisions of Paragraph 17 of this Lease for any deficiency, amount of whick iPCS is
responsible to the Owner. Owner shall insure the property and building of which the
site is part thereof, as the case may be, against loss or damage under a policy or
polioies of fire and extended coverage. All of Owner’s and iPCS policies of
insurance shall include a standard waiver of subrogation clause or endorsement,
Owner and iPCS each hereby waive all right of recovery against the other for losses

covered by insurance.

All contractors employed by iPCS and all subcontractors or any persons authorized
by iPCS to enter the site shall furnish to Owner, prior to Owner’s permission to enter

- the site, certificates made out to Owrer evidencing insurances in the same amounts as

those required by iPCS and under the same terms and conditions above required for --
iPCS’ insurance,, Owner(s) shall be named insured on each of these policies. -

- Alternatively, iPCS may cover each or any of their contractors or suppliers on iPC§’

insurance policy, all limits to be the same as {PCS’ own coverage, Certificates
showing covered contractors or suppliers as additional insured shall be forwarded to
the Owner(s) prior to such contractors or suppliers being allowed {o enter the site,




14. iPCS’ Property — All Antenna Facillties installed by iPCS at the site shall remain the
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property of iPCS and shall not be subject to any lien or encumbrance of Owner or any
third party acting pursuant to an agreetnent with the Owner.

Damage to Owner’s Facilities — iPCS shall exercise all necessary precautions to
avoid damage to the water tower, including contamination caused to the water supply
and subject to the waivers contained in this Lease, hereby assumes all responsibility
for any and all loss or damage to such facilities caused by iPCS or any person or
compatty authorized by iPCS to perform work of any kind on the site. iPCS shall
report any damage caused by iPCS, or any person or company authorized by iPCS to
work on the site, to the Owner immediately, IPCS shall reimburse Owner for alf costs
of repairs including the costs for any required engineering and the costs for inspection
of the damage before repair and after repair by the engineer and & report by the
engineer to the Owner certifying that all repairs have been made properly.

Water Tower Maintenance ~ The Owner shall maintain in good otder and repair the
water tower so that it will adequately support all of iPCS’ Antenna Facilities, Owner
shall not be responsible for making any structural changes to the water tower to
facilitate the placement of iPCS® Antenna Facilities, nor for making any
modifications to the water tower to facilitate any changes of or modifications fo

iPCS’ Antenna Facilities,

When maintepance o the outside coating on the water tower is required, iPCS shall
do one of the following two options: iPCS shall, at iPCS’ sole expense, temporarily
relocate their antennae on a separate tower to be temporarily erected by iPCS
adjacent to the water tower, same to be removed immediately upon completion of
water tower maintenance and site restored to original conditions, OR, iPCS shall pay
to Owner, in one lump sum payment, at the time thé maintenance is performed, the
difference in cost between what the maintenance operations would cost the Owner
with the antennae and without the antennae on the water tower, Contractor to
perform the maintenance shall be of the Owner’s choosing. Owner shall provide
iPC8 with coples of the quotation for maintenance both with iPCS’ equipment
located on the water tower and without iPCS’ equipment located oh the water tower.

Owner shall not make any guarantes fo iPCS that service will remain completely
uninterrupted.  Should it become necessary, for the safety of the water, the water
systemn or the water tank, to perform an operation which requires the disconnection of
the Antehna Facilities, Owner shall make a disconnection of the Antenina Facilities.
Owner will notify iPCS as soon as practicably possible of such disconnection and
shall take reasonable care in the handling of the equipment to avoid damage to the
extent reasonably possible, Owner shall not-disrupt iPCS’ service except in cases of
extréme emergency, as defined by Owner at time of incident, including, but not
necessarily limited to, threats to public health, imminent structural fatlure, threats to
the water system in general or rescue operations. Owner shall give iPCS as much

advanced notice of the intent to disrupt service as reasonably possible prior to
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commencing the disruption, - iPCS shall be allowed, if time allows under the
circumstances, to make sych disconnections or to witness the disconnection,

Indemnity — iPCS agrees to indemnify, defend, and save harmless the Owner, its
agents and employees, from and against all loss or expense (including costs and
attorney fees) by reason of liability imposed by law upon the Owner for damages
because of bodily injury, including death at any time resulting there from, sustained
by any person or persons or on account of damage to property, including loss of use
thereof, arising out of or in the consequence of the use of the site, whether such
injuries to person or damage to property is due to the negligence of iPCS, its
contractors or any person or company authorized by PCS to be on the site or the
Owner. This indemnity shal! extend to any liability of loss arising from contamination
of the water system or the site or the environment as provided for in Paragraph 18
below. This indemnity shall not apply to intentional misconduct by the Owner,

Owner shall indemnify and kold harmless IPCS from any and all costs (including, but
not limited to reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs) and claims of liability or
loss which arise out of the use and/or occuipancy of the site by iPCS due solely to acts
of intentional misconduct by the Owner:

Hazardous Substances — Owner represents that it has no knowledge, nor should it
have any knowledge, of any substance, chemical or waste (collectively, “Substance”)
on the site which is identified as hazardous, toxic or dangerous in any applicable
federal, state or local law or regulation, iPCS agrees not to introduce or use any
Substance on the site in violation of any applicable law. Any chemicals of any kind,
including solvents, cleaning solutions, paints and thinners or any chemical of any type
not already present on the site, brought in by iPCS or its contractors or any person or
company authorized by iPCS to be on the site shall be declared to the Owner in
advance and the Material Safety Data Shest (MSDS sheet) shall be furnished to the
Owner prior to permission being given to iPCS by the Owner for use of the chemical

on the site.

Owmer reserves the right to introduce onto the site at any time any Substance as
defined above, which in the opinion of the Owner is applicable to the treatment of
potable water or as necessary to be used in the course of maintenance of the water
tower or site. Such materials may be stored by Owner on the site. Owner shall
furnish iPCS with MSDS sheets for any such Substance brought onto the site which
iPCS personnel, its contractors or any person or company authorized by iPCS to be
on the site may come into contact with dunng reasonable course of required activity

on the site.

Assignment — This Lease may be freely assigned by iPCS provided that no

assignment shall relieve iPCS of any of its obligations under this Lease, and provided
further, that no assignee may use the water tower for other than a PCS
communications system without the express written consent of the Owner. Upon

-such consent, any assignee assumes all applicable rights and obligations of this Lease.
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Any assignee to which this Lease may be assigned without Owners consent shall be
bound by all terms and conditions of this Lease, especially those terms regarding
insurance, liability and safety in the use of'the site.

Condemnation ~ If all or substantially all of Owner’s property upon which the site is
located i3 condemned by an authorized governmental or quasi-governmental
authority, this Lease shall ferminate upon the date of taking and each party shall have
the right to maintain their own respective actions against the condemning authority
for their respective damages and neither party shall have any interest in any award
granted to the other. If a taking occurs, the rent shall be prorated to the date of the
taking, and any excess prepaid rent shall be promptly repaid to iPCS.

Termination — iPCS shall have the right to terminate this Lease at any time if (i)
iPCS cannot obtain all certificates, permits, licenses or other approvals (collectively,
“Approvals”) required from any governmental authority and/or easements required
from any third party to operate its communications facility; (i) such Approvals are
canceled, expire, lapse, withdrawn or terminated; (iif) Owner fails to hold legal title to
the property on which the site is located; (iv) Owner does not have the legal right to
enter into this Lease; or (v) for any other reason, iPCS, in its sole discretion,
determines that it will be unable to use the site for the use intended by this Lease.
However, should iPCS elect to terminate this Lease for any of the above reasons,
iPCS shall still be liable to Owner for any costs, charges or other fees which the
Owner contracted for or has already paid out as required by any section of this Lease
prior to the date Owner recsives notification from iPCS of intent to terminate,

. . L
Owner may terminate this Lease if iPCS ceases operations at the site continuously for
more than one (1) year. Owner may also terminate this Lease if iPCS reneges on any
payments due the Owner, becomes 90 days in arrears on rent payments or other
payments due Owhner, threatens the water supply by its actions or those of its
contractors, threatens the structural integrity of the water tower or installs or operates
the Antenna Facility which in any way impedes the operation of the water tower or
threatens the safety of water system personnel.

Upon termination of this Lease, iPCS shall remove all equipment including, but not
limited to, antennae, cables, supports and electrical equipment This shall be
accomplished within a period of 60 calendar days upon termination, iPCS shall be
Hable, upon removal of equipment, for the cost of Owner to have engineer certify that
removal of the equipment has not damaged the water tower or other or the Owner’s

facilities located on the site.

Notices — All notices shall be in writing and shall be sent by U.S.-certified maii,

- refurn receipt requested, or by overnight express delivery to the address of the party

set forth above or as otherwise directed in writing by such party of as provided under
applicable state law. Notice is deemed as of the date of delivery-as shown on the

- return receipt of on the date of delivery of an express delivery as evidenced by the

signature of the receiving party.
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Ifto Lessee:

iPCS Wireless

648 N, Chicago St.
Geneseo, IL 61254
Atin: Lease Management

With a copy to;

iPCS Wireless

4717 Broadmoor Ave, SE
Suite G

Kentwood, MI 49512
Attn: Lease Management

Re: Cell Site AW 310321; Cel! Site Name: Fruitport WT

If to Owners:
Muskegon County Department of Public Works

131 E. Apple Avenue, 4% Floor
Muskegon, M1 49442

Compliance with Laws — Owner represents that Owner’s property (including,
without limitation, the site) and all improvements thereto, are in compliance with all
building life/safety, disability and other laws, codes and regulations of any
" governmental or quasi-governmental authority. iPCS agrees that, subject to Owner’s
comphance with the terms of this paragraph, any 1mprovements constructed by iPCS
on the site and all operations of iPCS within the site shall be in compliance with all

applicable laws, codes and regulations,

24. Miscellaneous ~

A, Owner represents and warrants that Owner has full mzthonty to enter into

and sign this Lease.

B. The terms and conditions of the Lease shall extend to and bind the heirs,
personal representatives, successors and assigns of Owner and iPCS.

C. The prevailing party in- any astion or proceeding in court to enforce the
terms of this Lease shall be entitled to receive its reasonable attorney fees

10




and other reasonable enforcement costs and expenses from the non-

prevatling party,

D, This Lease shall be construed pursuant to the laws of the State of Michigan,

E. This site Lease may not be amended or modified unless the Owner and iPCS
consent in writing to the amendment or modification,

F. This Lease contains all agreements, promises and understandings between
Owner and iPCS. All exhibits are incorporated by reference.

G. No signs may be installed on the site by iPCS with the exception of warning
labels required on certain electrical equipment or other wammg labels
required by OSHA or MIOSHA regulations,

IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, flis Fruitport Township/City of Norfon Shores water tank usage lease has been duly
executed as of the dates set forth in the notardal acknowledgements below, to be effective for all purposes as of the

date first above written,

WITNESS:
?&4_) &zﬂu
Aobusd Voo lieha)

/%;tulw@ hon

11

By: LN g

Da;te: ?}/ :7//7-75/
Qe Heobg.

Date; Q-d- 0¥

CITY OF NORTON SHORES

COUNTY OF MUSKEGON




k%d/fj./fu uf/ /M_,ZM)

Karen Fisher

%—- /."’A.ﬁ._.‘l/\
John K. Warher .

Clhe
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uls McMurray
D= 9-0F

Date:

IPCS WIRELESS

S 2
DAy b ZybKA
~Cratg-—Toindey,

, Sr, VP of Englneering and
Opetations

Dater ‘O 1%0‘/ O Ciaengs,




EXHIBIT C

Copy of the Lease Agreement for MetroPCS Michigan, Inc.




SITE LEASE AGREEMENT
REGARDING THE USE OF THE
FRUITPORT WATER TANK

A. Owuers — The Owners, for the purpose of this Lease, will be Township of Fruitport, City
of Norton Shores and County of Muskegon. Owner's representative for all contact and
access shall be Mr. Matt Farrar , Fruitport Public Works Director, Mr, Fatrar may be
contacted af (231) 865-31351 ot faxed at (231) 865-3118,

B. Lessee—~The Lessee shall bé M 'f"_I_ugari, ‘Inc. a Delaware Cotporation, having a
mailing address of 28505 S 'Rd, Building 6, Livonia, MI 48150, hereafter
referred to as “MettoPCS”.  The Lessee's des1gnated representative shall be Tom
McMahon who can be contacted at (734) 444-0041 or faxed at (734)444-0503, The
designated representative shall be the person authorized to request access to the Site and
be the person contacted for communication purposes.

C. Communication — Communication between the Owners and MetroPCS shall be
performed through their respective reptesentatwes listed above. This will prevent
unauthorized entrance to the Site and will mm[mzze the chances for miscommunication

between the parties.

1. Leased Site -MetroPCS will be allowed a 240 square-foot-area {12 feet %20 feet)
outside of the tower base but close to it for the purpose of locating electrical cabinet
and equipment including electricat service and telephone service.

2. Term — The initial term (“Initial Term”) of this Lease shall be for a period of five
(5) years comenencing on the date the Lease is execufed on behalf of MetroPCS (the
“Commencement Date™), :

3. Rental~ initial rent for use of the Site shall be $650.00 /o
paft )antenna as per print submitted for the first year with & 3% ;
the remaining period of the Lease. Rent payment for each month shall be due on the
fifth day of that month. Rental payments shall commence beginning with the month
that the Antenna Facility is put into service. Rent payment for the first month shatl be
prorated for the amount of days the Antenna Facility is in service, and payment for
the first month is due no later than one week afier the Antenna Facility is placed Into
service, Rental payments received after the (5™) fifth of the menth shall be assessed
a 10% penalty, Reatal payments shall be sent to:

Muskegon County Deparrment of Public Works
131 E. Apple Avenue, 4™ floor
Muskegon, MT 49442

Rental payments shall be deposited in the Fruxtpm’t—Norton Shores regional Water
Fund with Muskegon County.




The Muskegon County Depariment of Public Works should be contacted at the above
address by the Lessee with any rental payment questions or-concerns.

For ary rental paymen: questions or concerns such as late paymenis Muskegon
County Department of Public Works should contact:

MetroPC8 Michigan, Inc, Phone: 734-444-0100

28505 Schooleraft R4, Bldg. 6 Fax! 734-444~0503

Livonia, MT 48130

4. Renewal Option — the term of this lease may be extended by MetroPCS for thres
additional five year periods provided that MetroPCS gives the Owner notice of its
intention to extend the term of this lease at least ninety days ptior to the expiration of
the current term. Owner has the option of renegotiating terms of the lease for each
extension beyond the original lease period, Lease period shall be extended only with
Owner approval. Owner approval shall not be unreasonably withheld such that
MetroPCS' service would be disrupted. Monetary compensation for use of the
facilities shall remain es stated in paragraph #3 of this lease uynless one of the
following occurt

A, Number of antennae or appurtenances on tower has increased during
previous lease period or type of antennae or appurtenances has changed.

B. Rate of inflation during the final two years of the previous lease period
has averaged an increase equal to or greater than 3 percent.

5. Possession — MetroPCS shall be allowed use of the Site beginning on the
Commencement Date.

6. Use of Premises —

A, MetroPCS may use the property for the installation, operation and
maintenance of its Antenna Facilities for the transmission, reception and
operation of & communications system and uses incidental thereto in
accordance with the terms of this lease, and for the storage of related
equipment provided that such equipment be contained within the ground
area provided for In'section 1 of this agresment, The Owner may permit
others to use portions of the water tower. MetroPCS’® installation of al]
such antepna facilities shall be done according to the plans and
specifications approved by the Owner. Plans and specifications for any
installation or maintenance of a structural nature shall be reviewed by
the Owner's engineer, Owner’s engineer shall be selected by the Owner
and paid for by MetzoPCS for work associated with the review of plans
and inspection of work performed on the MetroPCS system. MetroPCS




shall be strictly liable for any contamination caused to the water in the
tower or damage done to the water tower and/or the site during
instatlation and/or during operations by MetroPCS or any of iis

- contractors or suppliers. Any contamination caused to the water in the
tower or in the system by MetroPCS or any of its subcontractors or
employees shall be remedied by the Owner at the sole cost of MetroPCS.
Any event which may be the cause of a contaminatien problem shatl be
reported to the Owner immediately upon its occurrence. Any damage
caused to the tank or the site during installation or operations of the
Antenna Facility shall be tepaired or replaced at the Owner’s discretion
and at the expense of MetroPCS to the Owner’s sole satisfaction,

B, MetroPCS shall, at its expense, comply with all present and future
federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations {including,
but not limited to, laws relating to health, radio frequency emissions,
other radiation, safety, OSHA and MIOSHA), where applicable, in

. connection with the use, operation, construction, maintenance and/or
installation of the Antennha Facilities and/or premises. Owner agrees to
reasonably cooperate with MetroPCS in obtaining any federal licenses
and permits required for or substantially required by MetroPCS’ use of
the premises and all costs incurred by the Owner to aid MetroPCS shall
be reimbursed by MetroPCS to the Owner, including postage, shipping,
fabor, costs of reproduction or any other costs whmh can be attribufed to
the securing of the permits,

C. Upon termination of this lease, .if requested by the Owner to do so,
MetroPCS shall remove the Antenna Facilities and all supporting
structures and related hardware and equipment which are not shared or
used by another user of the water tower. Such removal shall be in a
workmanlike and careful manner and without interference or damage to
the water tower, the water in the tower or systern, or any other equipment,
structutes or operations on the site, including use of the site by the Owner
or any of the Owner’s assignees or lessees, Removai shall be completed
within 30 calendar days of the day MetroPCS receives the notification to
remove the antenna fheilities. Owner’s engineer shall observe all
removal and shall inspect for damage, the Owner's site, water tower and
all other facilities associated with MetroPCS’ use of the water. fank.
Engineer shall make a report to the Owner of any damage and
recommended repairs, Repairs shall be made by the Owner or a
contractor hired by the Owner, and all costs of repairs and the costs of the
engineer shall be paid for by MetroPCS,

D. The Owner reserves the right to install additional bracketing material or
similar structural supports to aliow for the co-location of other lessees’
antenna or similar radiating or broadeasting equipment. The Owner
agrees that, should the Owner desire to allow co-location on ity water
tower, reasonable and necessary assurances will be made to MetroPCS




that such co-location will not cause harm to MetroPCS' antenna or
radiating equipment,

E. Permission shall be secured from the Owner any time that MetroPCS
personnel or ‘personnel of any contractor or supplier employed by
MetroPCS desires to enter the tank structure, MetroPCS may place their
own padiock in tandem with Fruitport Township's lock on the gates to
the site, thersby allowing MetroPCS or its designated personnel 24 hour
per day/7 day per week access to the site. Should emergency access to
the tower stiveture be required, the following contact persons/mumbers
shall be used; :

1L.Matthew Farrar  (231) 865-3158 work
(231} 865-7667 hotne
(231) 339-0662 pager

2.Dale Hilliard (231) 865-3158 work
(231) 7TRB-2396 home
(231) 3390774 pager

7. Antenna Replacement — MetroPCS may update or replace the Antenna Facilities
from time to time with the prior writen approval of the Owner, provided that the
replacernent facilities are not greater in number or size than the existing faciiities and’
that any change in their location on the tower is satisfactory to the Owrer. Owner
shall have a petiod of 90 days to grant approval, during which time, Owner may
employ an engineer to review plans and specifications for MetroPCS® proposed
modifications. Engineer shall also inspect tank and site prior to instaliation of
modifications, perform inspection: of the Installation of the modifications and perform
ar inspection after installation of the modifications and submit a report to the Owner,
Engineer services shall be secured by the Owner and pald for by MetroPCS,

8. Maintenance —

A, MetroPCS shall, at its own expense, maintain any antenna facilities on or
ettached to the premises in a safe condition, in good repair and in a manner
suitable to the Owner so as not to conflict with the use of, or other [easing
of the tower by the Owner. In carrying out ifs maintenance responsibilities,
MetroPCS shall not in any way interfere with the use or operations of the
water tower, the premises, related facilities and/or any other property or
equipment owned by other tenants or the Owner,

B, MetroPCS shall have sole responsibility for the maintsnance, repalr and
security of its equipment, personal property, Antennz Facilitles and
leasehold improvements and shall keep the same in good repair and
condition for the life of this Lease,
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C,  MeiroPCS shall keep the premises free of debris and anything of a
dangerous, noxious or offensive nature or which would create a hazard or
undue vibration, heat, noise or interference,

Utilities — Owner agrees to cooperate with MetroPCS in MetroPCS? efforts to obtain
electric and other utilities from any location provided by the servicing utility,
MetroPCS shall contract directly with the necessary utility companies to provide
service to MetroPCS’ fucilities. Accounts shall be in the name of MetroPCS and
shall in no way involve the Owner, All charges for monthly service, installation or de-
Installatlon costs shall be the sole responsibility of MetroPCS and shall be billed
directly to MetroPCS by the utility. Owner shall provide an acceptable easement for
utifities to run their lines froin the praperty line to MetroPCS' facilities.

Taxes — MetroPCS shall be responsible for paying all personal property taxes
assessed directly upon and arising solely from its own use of the Antenna Facilities
on the site during the term of this {ease, -

. Use of Technicians/Inspectors — Not withstanding anything contzined herein to the

contrary, in order o protect the health, welfare and safety of iis residents, the Owner
shall have the right to have a technician and/or inspector witness all work done at the
site by MetroPCS or its contractors. Accordingly, MetroPCS shall give the Owner

“advanced notice of all non-emergency work t¢ be performed on the sits.  For

emergency work, MetroPCS shall give the Owner as much advanced notice as
reasonably practicable. In any case MetroPCS shall obtain keys to the facility from
the Owner each time access s required and shall promptly return keys to the Owner
upon completion of the work,

Interference — MetroPCS’ installation, operation and maintenance of its transmission
facilities shall not damage or inferfere in any way with the Owner's watsr tower
operations including repalis or maintenance to the water tower or with the activities
of any other tenants of the water tower, Owner, at all times during the life of this
lease, reserves the right to take any action it deems necessary, in its sole discretion, to
repair, maintain, alter or improve the premises in connection with the water tower
operations as may be necessary, including leasing par‘fs of the water fower and
surrounding ground space t others,

If the Owner receives a request for co-location on the water tower from any third-
party, it shall submit a proposa! complete with all technical specifications reasonably
requested by - {0 MetroPCS for review for non-
interference; however, Owner shall not be required to provide MetroPCS with any
specifications or information claimed to be of a proprietary nature by the third party,
The third party shall be responsible for preparing technical specifications for its
proposed transmission facility. MetroPCS shall have ‘thirty (30) calendar days
following recsipt of said proposal to make any objections thereto, and failure to make
any objection within said thirty (30) day period shell be deemed consent by
MetroPCS to the instailation of anternae or transmission facilities pursuant to said
ptopesal.  If MetroPCS gives notice of objection due to interference during such
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thirty(30) day period and MetroPCS’ objections are verified by the Owner to be
valid, then the Owner shall not proceed with the proposal. MetroPCS shall furnish the
Owner with alf required technical specifications reasonably requested in order that
Owner may be abls to verify any objection raised by MetroPCS, Failure or refusal on
the part of MetroPCS to provide the required technical specifications within a
reasonable iime as set forth at the time of Owner's request, shall render MetroPCS®
objection void and Owner may proceed with third party leasing,

Insurance — MefroPCS shall maintain, at its sole expense during the Terin of this
Lease commercial general lability insurance insuring MetroPCS against liability for
personal infury, death or damage to personal property arising out of the use of the site
by MetroPCS, Such insurances shall be in the amount not less than $1,000,000.00
(81 million) per cccurrence for each personal injury, death and property damage:
MetroPCS shall carry an excess umbrella liability policy In the amount not less than
$2,000,000.00 ($2 million), which shall not exclude the payment of all costs incurred
to remedy a contamination event {o the public water system caused by MetroPCS or
any of its contractors or suppliers per ocoutrence. MetroPCS shall carry all proper
insurances, and in armtounts as prescribed by law, on its employees and contractors
including, but not limited to, unemployment and workers compensation insurance,
MetroPCS shall provide the Owner with valid certificates of all required insurances
and fn the required amounts, prior to being allowed to enter the site. Insurance
cartier’s certificate shall show evidence that it has insured MetroPCS for all liabilities
uncer this Lease and that it will not cancel nor change any policy of insurance issued
to MetroPCS except for after thirty (30) days notice in writing has been supplied to
the Owner, Owner(s) shall be added to the policy as additional insured, The fact that
MetroPCS is required to furnish insurance in accordance with this paragraph or the
fact that such insurance is furnished does not and shall not relieve MetroPCS from its
obligations to Owner under the- provisions of Paragraph 17 of this Lease for any
deficiency, amount of which MetroPCS is responsible to the Owner, Owner shall
insure the property and building of which the 'site Is part thereof, as the case may be,
against loss or damage under a policy or poiicies of fire and extended coverage. All
of Owner’s and MetroPCS policies of insurance shall include a standard waiver of
subrogation clause or endorsement. QOwner and MetroPCS each hereby waive all
right of recovery against the other for losses covered by insurance,

All contractors employed by MetroPCS and all subcontractors or any persons
authorized by MetroPCS to enter the site shall furnish to Owner, prior to Owner’s
permission to enter the site, certificates made out to Owner evidencing insurances in
the same amounts as those required by MetroPCS and under the same terms and
conditions gbove required for MetroPCS’ insurance. Owner(s) shall be named
insured on each of these policies. Alternatively, MetroPCS may cover each or any of
their contractors or suppliers on MetroPCS’ insurance policy, all limits to be the same -
as MetroPCS’ own coverage. Certifcates showing covered contractors or suppliers
as additional insured shali be forwarded to the Owner(s) prior to such contractors or
suppliers being allowed to enter the site.




14,

15,

.16,

MetroPCS? Property — All Antenna Facilities installed. by MetroPCS at the site shall,
remain the property of MetroPCS and shall not be subject to any lien or encumbrance
of Owner or any third party actlng pursuant to an agreement with the Owner,

Damage to Owner’s Facilities — MetroPCS shall exercise ali necessary precautions
to avoid damage to the water tower, including contamination caused to the water
supply and subject to the waivers contained in this Lease, hereby assumes all
responsibility for any and all loss or damage to such facilities caused by MetroPCS or
any person or company authorized by MetroPCS to perform work of any kird on the
site, MetroPCS shall report any damage caused by MetroPCS, or any person or
company authorized by MetroPCS to work on the site, to the Owner immediately.
MetroPCS shall reimburse Owner for all costs of repairs including the costs for any
required engineeling and the costs for inspection of the damage before repair and
after xepair by the engineer and a report by the engineer to the Owner certifying that
all repairs have been made properly.

Water Tower Maintenance — The Owner shall maintain in good order and repair the
water tower so that it will adequately support all of MetroPCS' Antenna Facilities,
Owner shall not be responsible for making any structural changes to the water tower
to facilitate the placement of MetroPCS’ Antenna Facilitles, nor for making any
modifications to the water tower to facilitate any changes of or modifications to
MetroPCS Antenha Facilities,

When maintenance to the outside coating on the water tower is required, MetroPCS
shall do one of the following two options: MetroPCS shall, at MetroPCS' sole
expense, temporarily relocate their antsnnae on a separate tower to be temporarily
erected by MetroPCS adjacent to the water tower, same to be removed immediately
upon completion of water tower maintenance and site restored to original conditions,
OR, MetroPCS shall pay to Owner, in one lump sum payment, at the time the
maintenance is performed, the difference in cost between what the maintenance
opetations would cost the Owner with the antennae and without the antennae on the
water tower. Contractor to perform the maintenance shall be of the Owner’s
choosing. Owner shall provide MetroPCS with copies of the quotation for
maintenance both with MetroPCS’ equipment located on the svater tower and without
MetroPCS® equipment located on the water fower,

Owner shall not make any puarantee to MetroPCS that service will remain
completely uninterrupted. Should it become necessary, for the safety of the water,
the water system or the water tank, to perform an operation which requires the
disconnection of the Antenna Facilitles, Owner shall-make a disconnection of the
Antenna Facilities, Owner will notify MetroPCS as soon as practicably possible of
such disconnection and shall take reasonable care in the handling of the equipment to
avoid damage to the extent reasonably possible. Owner shall not disrupt MetroPCS®
setvice except in cases of extreme emergency, as defined by Owner at time of
incident, including, but not necessarily limited to, threats to public health, imminent
structural failure, threats to the water system in general or rescue operations. Owner
shall give MetroPCS as much advanced notice of the infent to disrupt service as
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reasonably possible prior to commencing the disruption. MetroPCS shall be atlowed,
if time allows under the circumstances, to make such disconnections or to witness the

disconnection.

Indemuity — MetroPC8 agrees to indemnify, defend, and save harmless the Owner,
its agents and employees, from and against all toss or expense (including costs and
attorney fees} by reason of liability fmposed by law upon the Owner for damages
because of bodily injury, including death at any time resulting there from, sustained
by afy person or persons ot 'on account of damage to property, itcluding loss of use
thereof, arising out of or in the consequence of the use of the site, whether such
injuries to person of damage to property is due to the negligence of MetroPCS, its
contractors or any person or compaiy authorlzed by MetroPCS to be on the site or the
Owner.  This indemnity shall extend to any liability of loss arising from
contamination of the water system or the sfte or the environment as provided for in
Paragraph 18 below. This indemnity shall not appiy to intentional misconduct by the
Ovwner.

Owner shall indernnify and hold harmless - MetroPCS from any and all casts
(including, but not limited to reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs) and claims of
liability or [oss which arise out of the use and/or occupancy of the site by MetroPCS
due solely fo acts of intentional misconduct by the Owner,

. Hazardous Substances — Owner represents that it has no knowledge, nor should it

have any knowledge, of any substance, chemical ot waste (collectively, “Substance’)
ot the site which is Identified as hazardous, toxic or dangerous in any applicable
federal, state or local law or regulation. MetroPCS agrees not to introduce ot use any
Substance on the site in violation of any applicable law. Any chemicals of any kind,
including solvents, cleaning solutions, paints and thinnérs or any chemical of any type
not already present on the site, brought in by MetroPCS or its contractors or any
petsen or company authorized by MetroPCS to bo on the site shall be declared to the
Owner in advance and the Material Safsty Data Sheet (MSDS sheet) shall be
furnished to the Owner prior to permission being given to MetroPCS by the Owner

for use of the chemical on the site,

Owner reserves the right to introduce onto the site at any time any Substance as
defined above, which iu the opinion of the Qwner is applicable to the treatment of
potable water or as necessary to be used in the course of maintenance of the water
tower or site. Such materials may be stored by Owner on the site. Owner shall
furnish MetroPCS with MSDS sheets for any such Substance brought onto the site
which MetroPCS personnel, its contractors or any person or company authorized by

" MetroPCS to be on the site may come into contact with during reasonable course of

19,

required activity on the site,

Assignment — This Lease may be freely assigned by MetroPCS provided that no
assignment shall relieve MetroPCS of any of its obligations under this Lease, and
provided further, that no assignee may use the water tower for other than a PCS
communications system ithout the express wiitten consent of the Owner, Upon




such consent, any assignee assumes al! applicable rights and obligations of this Lease.

Any assignee to which this Lease may be assignéd without Owners consent shall be

bound by all terms and conditions of this Lease, especially those terms regarding
- Insurance, [fability and safety in the use of the site,

20, Condemnation - If all or substantially all of Owner’s property upon which the site is
tocated is condemned by an authorized governmental or quasi-governmental
authority, this Lease shall terminate upon the date of taking and each party shall have
the right fo maintain their own respective actions against the condemning authority
for their respective damages and neither party shall have any interest in any award
granted to the other, If a taking occurs, the rent shall be prorated to the date of the
taking, and any excess prepaid rent shall be promptly repaid to MetroPCS,

21, Termination — MetroPCS shall have the right to terminate this Lease at any time if
(i) MetroPCS cannot obtain all certificates, permits, licenses or other approvals
(cotlectively, “Approvals”) required from any governmental authority and/or
easements required from any third party to operate its communications facility; (ii)
such Approvals are canceled, expire, lapse, withdrawn or terminated; (iji) Owner fails
to hold legal title to the property on which the site is located; (iv) Oswner does not
have the legal right to enter into this Lease; ot (v) for any other reason, MetroPCS, in
its sole discretion, determines that it will be unable to use the site for the use intended
by this Lease. However, should MetroPCS elect to terminate this Lease for any of the
above reasons, MetroPCS shall still be liable to Owner for any costs, chatges or other
fees which the Owner contracted for or has already paid out as required by eny
section of this Lease ptior to the date Owner receives notification from MetroPCS of
inttent to terminate,

Owner may terminate this Lease if MetroPCS ceases operations at the site
continuously for more than one (1) year. Owner may also terminate this Lease if
MetroPCS reneges on any payments due the Owner, becomes 90 days in arrears on
rent payments or other payments due Owner, threatens the water supply by its actions
ot those of its contractors, threatens the structural integrity of the water tower or
installs or operates the Antenna Facility which in any way impedes the operation of
the water tower or threatens the safety of water system personnel,

Upon termination of this Lease, MetraPCS shall remove all equipment including, but
not limited to, antennae, cables, supports and electrical equipment. This shall be
accomplished within a perlod of 60 calendar days upon termination. MetroPCS shall
be liable, upon removal of equipment, for the cost of Owner to have engineer certify
that removal of the equipment has not damaged the water tower or other or the
Owner’s facilities located on the site.

22. Notices ~ All notices shafl be in writing and shall be sent by U.S. cettified mail,
return receipt requested, or by overnight express dafivery to the addtess of the party
set forth above or as othenwise directed in writing by such party of as provided under
applicable state law. Notice is deemed as.of the date of delivery as shown on the




return receipt of on the date of delivery of an express delivery as evidenced by the
signature of the recelving party, .

If'to Lessee:
MetroPCS Texas, LLC
2250 Lakeside Blvd,
Richardson, TX 75082
Attn: Property Manager .
Cell Site: MUS2830C Site Name: Fruitport WT

With a copy to:
MetroPCS Michigan, Ino
28505 Schooleraft Rd Bidg 6
Livonia, MI 48150

AND

Ifto Owners:
Muskegon County Department of Public Works

131 B. Apple Avenue, 4 Floor
Muskegon, MI 49442

23, Compliance with Laws — Owner represents that Owner’s preperty (including,
without limitation, the site) and all improvements thereto, are in compiiance with alt
building life/safety, disability and other laws, codes and regulations of any
governmental or quasi-governmental authority, MetroPCS agrees that, subject to
Owner's compliance with the terms of this paragraph, any improvements constructed
by MetroPCS on the site and all operations of MetroPCS within the site shali be in
compiiance with all applicable laws, codes and regulations.

24, Miscellaneous —

A, Owner represents and warrants that Owner has full authorlty to enter into
and sign this Lease,

B. The terms and conditions of the Lease shall extend to and bind the heirs,
personal representatives, successors and assigns of Owner and MetroPCS,

C. The prevailing party in any action or proceeding in coutt to enforce the terms
of this Lease shall be entitled to receive its reasonable asttomey fees and
other reascnable enforcement costs and expenses from the non-prevailing

party.
D. This Lease shall be construed pursuant to the laws of the State of Michigan,

E. This site Lease may not be amended or modified unless the Owner and
MetroPCS consent in writing to the amendment or modification,

10




F. This Lease contains ail agreements, promises and understandings between
Owner and MetroP'CS. All exhibits are incorporated by reference.

G, No signs may be installed on the site by MetroPCS with the exception of

warning labels required on certain electrical equipment or other warning
~ labels required by OSHA or MIOSHA regulations.

11




IN WITNESS WHEREQF, this Fruitpert Township/Clly of Norton Sheres water tank usage lease has been duly
exgouted as of the dates set forth In the notarfal acknowledgements below, to be effective for all purposes as of the

- dato first above written,

WITNESS:

.0 b e,
Cn . bt

MM‘*’M

%’L-ﬁf?LJ hl(u:,b&,{ 3

12

TOWNSHIF OF FRUITPORT
Daté; é/ 'f/ O

o Ot el Holea
D.a‘rc: -~g-~-09 -
LTV OF NORTON SHORES

o Aleat, VO el

e 0/5] 07

B)Q%@M.M/

Date: | @/}/O 9

COUNTY OF MUSKEGON .
B}’; WM !ﬁ///ﬂ .

Date:_{ Ldya) B Zrnay

By

Date:,

METROPCS MICHIGANNNC,
By: A? -
N

Date:. v L!t" ‘9‘?

Glen W. Flowers
VP & General Manager
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EXHIBIT D

The City’s Authorizing Resolutions
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EXHIBIT D
CITY OF NORTON SHORES

- RESOLUTION

WHEREAS, the West Michigan Regional Water Authority (the “Authority”) was formed
by the City of Norton Shores (the “City”) and Fruitport Charter Township (the “Township™) in
January 2014 for the putpose of financing, issuing bonds for, improving, constructing, contracting
for, and operating public water improvements and services; '

WHEREAS, as patt of their statutorily prescribed powers, the City and the Township
participated in bond financing with the County of Muskegon (the “County™} to cover the costs of
various project components and construction related to the joint water supply system operated by
the City and the Township, which bonds are set to be repaid in full as of May 1, 2020,

WHEREAS, following the retirement of the bond financing referenced above, the City, the
Township, and the County have agreed to transfer, convey, and assign all of their rights, title,
interests, and obligations in, to, and under the related water supply infrastructure and certain lease
agreements for cellular telephone antennas attached to such water supply infrastructure to the
Authority, and the Authority has agreed to accept such assignment and assume all of the rights and
obligations; '

WHEREAS, the City, the Township, the County, and the Authority have memorialized the
terms and conditions of the assignment to and assumption by the Authority of the rights and
obligations referenced above in the proposed Assignment and Assumption Agreement to which
this Resolution is attached as Exhibit D (the “Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Council of the City is being asked to authorize and approve the execution
of the Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS:

L. The Council of the City adopts and approves the Agreement to which this
Resolution is attached as Exhibit D in all respects.

2. Mayor Nelund is authorized to sign the Agreement on behalf of the City and take
any and all other necessary action to put the Agreement into full force and effect.

3. All resolutions in conflict in whole or in part are revoked to the extent of such
conflict.

Draft Date
01/02/20
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RESOLUTION

WHEREAS, an Assignment and Assumption agreement has been prepared to release interest in
the regional system to the WMRWA, and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Mayor is authorized to sign the agreement and
resolution in Exhibit D on behalf of the City.

At a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Norton Shores, held at the Norton Shores
Branch Library, 705 Semincle Road, on the 4" day of February, 2020, the foregoing resolution
was moved for adoption by Council Member Jurkas, The motion was supported by Council
Member Moulatsiotis.

Ayes: Council Members Beecham, Flanders, Hylland, Jurkas, Morgenstern, Moulatsiotis, Olson and
Mayor Nelund

Nays: None

Absent: Council Member Sladick

Resolution declared adopted.

= Coam

Shelly Stféitz, City Clerk)

| hereby cerlify this to be a true and

exactcogy of an uri%document.
| L b
City Cletk, Cily 6F Norlen Shor




EXHIBITE

The Township’s Authorizing Resolutions
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EXHIBIT F

The County’s Authorizing Resolutions
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EXHIBIT G

The Authority’s Authorizing Resolutions
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EXHIBIT G
WEST MICHIGAN REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY

 RESOLUTION

WHEREAS, the West Michigan Regional Water Authority (the “Authority”) was formed
by the City of Norton Shores (the “City”) and Fruitport Charter Township (the “Township™) in
January 2014 for the purpose of financing, issuing bonds for, improving, constructing, contracting
for, and operating public water improvements and services;,

WHEREAS, as part of their statutorily prescribed powers, the City and the Township
participated in bond financing with the County of Muskegon (the “County”) to cover the costs of
various project components and construction related to the joint water supply system operated by
the City and the Township, which bonds are set to be repaid in full as of May 1, 2020;

WHEREAS, following the retirement of the bond financing referenced above, the City, the
Township, and the County have agreed to transfer, convey, and assign all of their rights, title,
interests, and obligations in, to, and under the related water supply infrastructure and certain lease
agreements for cellular telephone antennas attached to such water supply infrastructure to the
Authority, and the Authority has agreed to accept such assignment and assume all of the rights and
obligations;

WHEREAS, the City, the Township, the County, and the Authority have memorialized the
terms and conditions of the assignment to and assumption by the Authority of the rights and
obligations referenced above in the proposed Assignment and Assumption Agreement to which
this Resolution is attached as Exhibit G (the “Agreement™); and

WHEREAS, the Board of the Authority is being asked to authorize and approve the
execution of the Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED AS FOLLOWS:

1. The Board of the Authority adopts and approves the Agreement to which this
Resolution is attached as Exhibit G in all respects.

2. is authorized to sign the Agreement on behalf of the
Authority and take any and all other necessary action to put the Agreement into full force and
“effect.

3. All resolutions in conflict in whole or in part are revoked to the extent of such
conflict.

Draft Date
01/02/20



EXHIBIT H

List of Material Liabilities

There are no such material liabilities.
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FY — 2021
BUDGET



WEST MICHIGAN REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY

BUDGET

FY-2020 - APPROVED (July 19 - June 20)

FY-2020 REVISED

FY-2021 PROPOSED

Revenues

1 Water Salgs ** $3,004,000.00 $2,873,000,00 $3,226,500,00
2 Adjustment to Water Sales $0.00 $293,776,00 $0.00
3 Rate Smoothing ** $518,000,00 $481,000.00 $283,500.00
4 Cell Antenna Lease Revenue $0.00 $10,126.00 $125,162.00
5 Interest Income $500.00 $200.00 $300.00
Total Revenues $3,612,500.00 $3,658,102.00 $3,635,462.00
Expenses
Combined Gas & Electricity for
! Booster Station, Towers, Master Meters §7,800.00 §7.200.00 §7,400.00
2 Master Meter Testing $1,200,00 $1,200,00 $1,200,00
Combined Supplies & Materials for
3 Booster Station, Towers, Master Meter $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00
maintenance
4 Special Projects
FY-19 Altimde Valve, check
valve if needed, SCADA;
Miscellaneous - throtile valve | $20,000.00 $85,000.00 $100,000,00
FY-20 Smiley Tank Wash,
Miscellaneous
5 Emergency Ropair $15,000.00 $65,000.00 $25,000,00
6 Misc $3,000.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00
7 Auditing $4,000.00 $4,025,00 $4,200,00
8 Insurance $9,800.00 $10,224.00 $10,500.00
9  Bond Payment
Interest 10-1-19 (2020} $259,500.00 $259,500.00 $251,500.00
Principal 4-1.20 (2020) $400,000.00 $400,000.00 $400,000.00
Interest 4-1-20 (2020) $259,500.00 $259,500.00 $251,500.00
Paying Agent $300.00 $500.00 $500.00
10 Water Purchases at calculated rate $2,366,000.00 $2,023,706.00 $2,223,000,00
10a  Water Rate adjustment per contract $0.00 $293,776.00 $0.00
11 Legal $2,500.00 $5,500.00 $3,000.00
12 Capital Contribution to FB -$94,300,00 -$136,433.00 -$1,891.00
13 Depreciation * $355,000.00 $353,553.00 $353,553.00
Total $3,612,500,00 $3,638,251.00 $3,635,462.00
Billable Gallons 1,400,000 1,300,000 1,350,000
Rate per 1,000 gallons $2.58 $2.80 $2.69

k¥

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS
FY-2019/20 Broadway, Getty to Bailey Water Main $337,000
FY-2020/21 Seminole, Hentry to Patk Water Main $160,000

$0.17/1,000 gailons will be added to the Muskegon's rate calculated without the Capital Improvement
component to cover major Capitat Imps from 2019 to 2024, This addition wilt be for 15 years or until 2034




BROADWAY PHASE Il
WATER COSTS
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DRAFT COASTAL
PROTECTION STRATEGY
EVALUATION



mBABONMARCHE

Engineering = Architecture » Land Surveying

January 22, 2020

Attn: Mr. Leo Evans, P.E.

City of Muskegon

1350 E. Keating Ave.
Muskegon, MI 49442
Leo.evans@shorelinecity.com

Re:  Coastal Protection Strategy Evaluation [DRAFT]
Beach Street Shoreline

Dear Mr. Evans,

This letter is intended to provide evaluation of potential coastal protection strategies along the
Beach Street shoreline, south of the City's water filtiration plant.

. PURPOSE/NEED

Coastal erosion is occurring along approximately 2,200 feet of Beach Street. The erosion may
soon threaten the roadway and the water main owned by the West Michigan Regional Water
Authority (WMRWA) which serves Norton Shores and Fruitport Township. Damage to these
components could have health and safety impacts and therefore the City intends to take
short-term preventative actions and eventually long-term preventative actions.

Lake Michigan

Figure 1: 2015 Shoreviewer Oblique Aerial with labels added

95 West Main Street, Benton Harbor, MI 49022 « 249.927.2295
abonmarche.com
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Il. BACKGROUND DATA
A. Record Documents

The WMRWA provided record plan sheets 14-17 from record plans entitled "Plan and
Profile, Beach Street (Upper).” by URS Corporation. The drawings depict the location of
the 3é-inch ductile iron water main which supplies WMRWA with potable water. The
water main is located near the west edge of pavement along Beach Street, between
the filtration plant and approximate station 124+00, where Beach Street turns inland.

B. Coastal Conditions
Water Level

Lake Michigan basin water levels are currently elevated near record high levels. NOAA
Station 2087031 in Holland, Michigan indicated the water level elevation on January 10,
2020 ranged from 581.6 feet to 581.9 feet (IGLD 85 Datum). The Lake Michigan record
high monthly mean water level is approximately 582.4 feet (October 1986). In 2019, the
high monthly mean water level occurred in July, when the reported monthly mean
reached approximately 582.0 feet, according to the attached USACE chart.

According fo the attached U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) Release No.
01102020-01 (January 10, 2020), “...lakes Michigan and Huron are forecasted to reach
record high levels this year.” The release also urges those impacted by high water levels
in 2019 to prepare for similar levels again in 2020. Erosion along Beach Street is likely to
progress during the projected sustained high water conditions.

Short-term rises in water levels also occur during storm events and can result in a
localized lake level rise of several feet. Wave runup, the uprush of waves upon the
shoreline, allows water to reach greater elevations and further inland.

According fo record plans, the centerline of Beach Street in the subject area is at or
below elevation 570.0 feet, only approximately 8 feet higher than the still water
elevation of Lake Michigan. Short-term water level rises and wave runup can reach
elevations greater than 8 feet, although a runup analysis has not been completed for
the subject area.

Wind and Wave Data

A wind rose, wave rose, and extreme event plot from the USACE Wave Information
Studies (WIS) are attached. The extreme event plot indicates the deep water significant
wave height for a 50-year event is approximately 23 feet and the height for a 100-year
event is approximately 24.6 feet.
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Nearshore Bathymeltry

No study of nearshore bathymetry has been completed in this evaluation as recent
data is not available.

C. Regulatory Designations
Part 325, Great Lakes Submerged Lands

Michigan’s Great Lakes bottomlands and shorelines are regulated by the Michigan
Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE) under Part 325 of the
Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act (NREPA). Typically, the jurisdiction
extends to the Ordinary High Water Mark (OHWM]). An elevation-based OHWM is
commonly used to delineate jurisdictions of regulatory agencies. EGLE uses elevation
580.5 feet (IGLD 85 Datum) for an elevation-based OHWM.

Section 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act & Section 404 of the Clean Water Act

The USACE regulates work waterward of the OHWM in the Great Lakes, as well under
the Rivers and Harbors Act and the Clean Water Act. The USACE commonly uses
elevation 581.5 (IGLD 85 Datum) as its elevation-based OHWM, however it is not
uncommon for the USACE’s jurisdiction to extend landward of the elevation-based
OHWM when there is physical evidence of higher water levels or when the USACE feels
the proposed actions may impact the navigational capacity of the lake.

Part 353, Sand Dunes Protection and Management

EGLE regulates work within designated Critical Dune Areas (CDAs) under Part 353 of the
NREPA. The subject site is located within a CDA per the attached Muskegon/Laketon
Township Critical Dune Area map. While not uncommon, most coastal protection
measures located in a CDA must undergo a special exception process during EGLE
permitting. The City of Muskegon self-administers the CDA program within the City limits,
with assistance from Prism Science and Technology, LLC.

Part 323, High Risk Erosion Area

EGLE regulates activifies in high risk erosion areas (HREAs), as well, under Part 323 of the
NREPA. The southern half of the subject area is located with a HREA per the attached
HREA Map for the Cities of Muskegon and Norton Shores. The map indicates a 30-year
projected recession distance of 60 feet and a 60-year projected recession distance of
105 feet.
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D. Site Conditions

Abonmarche observed site conditions on November 26, 2019. Photos taken during the
site visit are attached. During the site visit, the following were observed:
= Beach width tapers from north to south; minimal dry beach at south end

= Broken concrete rip rap is visible along southern portions of the reach within
approximately 10 to 15 feet of the west pavement edge

= Water main is marked with blue paint line, just east of west edge of pavement
»  Apparent gentle slope in nearshore, based upon observations of wave behavior
* Only sand is observed at surface; dunes present on east side of Beach Street

lll. SHORT-TERM STRATEGIES

The following short-term strategies represent options for minimizing and decelerating the
progression of ercsion until long-term plans are developed and implemented.

A. Do Nothing

A ‘do nothing' approach will likely result in continuing erosion that will eventually reach
the roadway and the water main. Once undermined, the roadway and water main will
become unstable, requiring closure of the roadway and potential leaks or failure of the
water main. Given the projected sustained water levels and potential risks to public

health and safety, this approach is not recommended.

e TR

Figure 2: Erosion of a sandy bluff, §t. Joseph
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= Regulatory: Not applicable

»  Feasible implementation schedule: Not applicable

=  Material availability, quality, survivability: Not applicable
= Cost: None

» Risk: Advancing erosion could result in damage to the water main and roadwayy,
creating potential health and safety risks.

= Benefits: The beach will continue to evolve in a natural condition, except for
previously armored areas.

= Potential long-term impacts: Damage to the water main and roadway could
result in the need for more impactful repairs and removals.

B. Beach Nourishment

Beach nourishment is typically completed in partnership with dredging operations.
However, the City could consider importing sand from an inland/upland source. Sand
placed along a shoreline should be considered sacrificial, as it will be eroded by
coastal forces. However, as it erodes, it will continue to feed the nearshore littoral
system, potentially contributing to a gently sloping nearshore lake bottom.

As a long-term solution, the reclamation of sand from deep water could be considered.
More information regarding this approach is provided below in Section IV.D.

Figure 3: Beach nourishment; area lakeward of table and volleyball net recently placed
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= Regulatory: Requires State and Federal permits, depending upon location of
nourishment relative to CDAs and relative to OHWM

= Feasible implementation schedule:

o Short-term nourishment from upland source: 0-6 months

= Material availability, quality, survivability: Further study is needed, but sand will be
sacrificial and will feed the nearshore littoral system.

= Cost: Placement and grading of sand on the beach will cost approximately $8 to
$12 per cubic yard. Placement over an area 4 feet deep by 50 feet wide by 500
feet long (3.700 cubic yards) would therefare cost $30,000 to $45,000. Further
analysis is needed to identify volume needed and placement area.

= Risk: Newly placed sand may be completely eroded away in a single storm
event and therefore, there is risk that the dollars spent on this approach may only
provide minimal protection for an extremely short period of fime.

= Benefits: Any sand placed, which is eroded will help to nourish the nearshore
littoral system. It may also help to provide useable beach area during summer
months.

= Potential long-term impacts: Depending upon grain size placed and coastal
conditions, the sand may conftribute to the health of the beach in the long-term.
Improvements to the health of the system will only result if regular nourishment is
completed over a long period of time.

C. Place Interim Stone

The placement of interim stone is @ common approach to minimize erosion in the short-
term. Typically placement is informal and without an engineered, layered cross section.
The slope of the stone surface and the roughness of the revetment face will absorb
wave energy and slow erosion by acting as a partial barrier. Interim stone should be of
a quality suitable for use in the long-term protection scheme to maximize cost
efficiency. Natural stone is recommended for this reason and as a regulatory
consideration.

- . O:\Projects\2020120-0033 Muskegon Beach Street Coastal\Reporls\2020-01-22 DRAFT Muskegon Beach 5t Coastal Shalegy.docx
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Figure 4: Interim armor stone placed along failed seawall; long-term construction to
begin in spring due to weather conditions

Regulatory: State and Federal permits will be required. A Joint Permit Application
(JPA) would be prepared and submitted outlining the project intent and fill
volumes. Due to the CDA designation, a Special Exception will likely be required.

Feasible implementation schedule: 0-2 months, dependent upon contractor and
material availability; regulatory agencies are aware of coastal erosion threats
and have been accelerating permit issuance when health and safety are
threatened.

Material availability, quality, survivability: Various options may exist, however the
use of natural armor stone or smaller bedding stone is recommmended,
depending upon availability and delivery schedule. Materials selected should be
of suitable quality for use in the eventual long-term approach.

For armor stone, Abonmarche typically recommends quarried stone from
sources approved by the USACE. To qualify for use in USACE projects, armor
stone quality must be reviewed every five years. Quarries known to Abonmarche
to produce USACE-approved stone are located in Wisconsin. Loads of

O:\Projecis\20201,20-0033 Muskegon Beach Street Coastal\Reports\2020-01-22 DRAFT Muskegon Beach 5t Coastal Skrategy.docx
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approximately 2,500 tons are regularly barged from Wisconsin ports fo Michigan
portfs.

ﬂ,:&?mijw - v % k. . r9 : E ]

%‘.

Figure 5: Quartzite armor stone at Waterloo Quarry, Waterloo, WI

Cost: The cost will be dependent upon the type and quantity of stone needed.

o Interim Armor Stone: If armor stone is used, approximate costs of $750 -
$1,250 per linear foot are likely.

o Interim Bedding Stone: If a smaller bedding stone (size ranges between 8"
and 24" diameters) is used, costs will likely be closer to $200 - $1,000 per
linear foot. The lower end of the range would represent application of
minimal stone volumes over existing rip rap, while the higher end of the
range would represent placement of stone where none currently exists.

Risk: This approach will not retain sand if regularly exposed to waves, so some
sand loss should be expected. Informally placed stone will also shiff and move
over time, creating potential safety hazards. Preventative measures should be
placed to prevent people from climbing on the rocks.

Benefits: Wave energy will be dissipated and the rate of erosion will be reduced.
Once water levels return to low conditions and when sand accretion resumes,

O:\Projects\2020\20-0033 Muskegon Beach Street Coastal\Reporis\2020-01-22 DRAFT Muskegon Beach 5t Coastal Skalegy.docx
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the gentle rock slope and rough surface willaccommodate the process. Over
time, wind-blown sand may bury the rocks and restore the natural appearance
of the sandy reach of shoreline.

= Potential long-term impacts: Minimal long-term impacts should be expected
since portions of the shoreline are already partially armored by broken concrete
rip-rap. The stone would likely provide some level of protection during future high
water level cycles, as well.

If high water conditions and erosive storms persist, public access across the
lakeward face of the structure could be limited.

D. Steel Sheet Piling System

A steel sheet pile system could be constructed just lakeward of the pavement and
water main. Sheet piling could be driven from land-based equipment and would
provide both lateral support to the road and water main and a ‘firewall’ to limit the
progression of erosion. Abonmarche notes that a vertical wall is not recommended as a
standalone coastal protection measure and that an armor stone revetment must be
constructed lakeward of the wall to absorb wave energy. Without a revetment or
beach, a vertical seawall will accelerate scour and erosion at the lakeward wall face.

Sheet piling may not be possible in short term due to the site’'s CDA designation and
likely need for a special exception process.

Figure 6: New steel sheet pile wall with interim armor stone foe, early winter; long-term
armor stone revetment was completed the following spring

O:\Projects\2020420-0033 Muskegon Beach Street Coostal\Reporis\2020-01-22 DRAFT Muskegon Beach 5t Coastal Strategy.docx




Mr. Leo Evans

City of Muskegon

[DRAFT] Coastal Protection Strategy - Beach Street
January 22, 2020

Page 10 of 19

Regulatory: State and Federal permits will be required. A JPA would be prepared
and submitted outlining the project intent and fill volumes. Due to the CDA
designation, a Special Exception will likely be required. At minimum, toe stone
would be required at the lakeward face of the wall to minimize scour and
impacts to adjacent arecs.

Feasible implementation schedule: 1-4 months, dependent upon contractor and
material availability; regulatory agencies are aware of coastal erosion threats
and have been accelerating permit issuance when health and safety are
threatened.

Material availability, quality, survivability: The availability of steel sheet piling will
depend upon the designed/specified section and will ultimately represent the
critical path to beginning work, once permits are issued. See above lII.C for stone
material information.

Cost: Sheet piling with minimal toe stone will cost approximately $200 - $1,500 per
linear foot, depending upon quantity, design section, and contractor availability.
A wall and full revetment combination will cost approximately $2,500 -$4,000 per
linear foot if work can be conducted from shore.

Risk: Vibrations from installation of the sheet piling may cause damage to the
roadway and/or water main. If any underground obstructions are encountered,
additional work may be needed to remove or to brace the wall in localized
areas.

Benefits: A steel sheet pile wall will retain sand and will provide a barrier to
erosion as both a short-term and long-term approach.

Potential long-term impacts: If only minimal toe stcne is placed, the wall may
accelerate erosion of the beach in the long-term. Wave reflection and scour will
occur if the vertical face of the walll is left exposed to wave energy, impacting
the natural shoreline in this reach. These impacts can be mitigated/minimized if a
sloped revetment is combined with the wall.

Access from the roadway to the beach will be impacted, so measures for
pedestrian access will likely need to be evaluated and included.

If high water conditions and erosive storms persist, public access across the
lakeward face of the structure could be limited.
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IV. LONG-TERM STRATEGIES

The following strategies represent potential means for protection of the roadway and water
main over the long-term. Long-term strategies should also consider the preservation of the
natural shoreline, public access and use of the shoreline, and protective function.

A. Steel Sheet Pile & Armor Stone Revetment

This approach offers both lateral retaining support and wave absorption. Section IIl.D
above provides discussion of this approach. As a long-term strategy, a sheet pile &
armor stone revetment combination could be constructed in phases, given available
materials, contractors, and conditions. For instance, the wall could be constructed in
winter, but nearshore ice would make construction of the armor stone revetment
difficult. The armor stone portion could be completed in spring or summer as a second
phase.

5

n@\

4 i
= vt =

Figure 7: Steel sheet pile wall and armor stone revetment combination; note armor stone
height is less than typically recommended full height due to budgetary restrictions

= Regulatory: As mentioned above, State and Federal permits will be required. A
JPA would be prepared and submitted outlining the project intent and fill
volumes. Due to the CDA designation, a Special Exception will likely be required.
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Feasible implementation schedule: 4-12 months, dependent upon permitting,
contractor and material availability; regulatory agencies are aware of coastal
erosion threats and have been accelerating permit issuance when health and
safety are threatened.

Material availability, guality, survivability: See above Section I1.D for sheet pile
information and IIl.C for stone material information.

Cost: A wall and full revetment combination will cost approximately $2,500 -
$4,000 per linear foot if work can be conducted from shore.

Risk: During construction of the sheet piling, vibrations could damage the
roadway and water main. If any underground obstructions are encountered,
additional work may be needed to remove or to brace the wall in localized
areaqs.

Benefits: The steel sheet pile wall will retain sand and provide lateral support to
the water main and roadway. It will also minimize the risk that erosion will
advance inland. The armor stone revetment will absorb wave energy and allow
eventual accretion to occur, while minimizing wave reflection and scour.

Potential long-term impacts: Access to the beach level from roadway level will
need to be accommodated, likely via pile-supported stairways or ramps. If high
water conditions and erosive storms persist, public access across the lakeward
face of the structure could be limited.
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B. Armor Stone Revetment

This approach involves the development and construction of an engineered section,
typically including proper toe design, multiple stone layers, sufficient crest width, and
other critical components.

Figure 8: Armar stone revetment with steel beach access piles

=  Regulatory: As mentfioned above, State and Federal permits will be required. A
joint permit application would be prepared and submitted outlining the project
intent and fill volumes. Due to the CDA designation, a Special Exception will likely
be required.

=  Feasible implementation schedule: 4-12 months, dependent upon permitting,
contractor and material availability; regulatory agencies are aware of coastal
erosion threats and have been accelerating permit issuance when health and
safety are threatened.

= Material availability, guality, survivability: See above Section III.C for stone
material information.

= Cost: An armor stone revetment will cost approximately $1,500 -$4,000 per linear
foot if work can be conducted from shore.

= Risk: An armor stone revetment is an unsafe location for people, so preventative
measures should be placed to prevent people from climbing on the rocks.
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Benefits: Like Il.C above, wave energy will be dissipated by the revetment and
the rate of erosion will be reduced. Once water levels return to low conditions
and when sand accretion resumes, the gentle rock slope and rough surface will
accommodate the process. Over time, wind-blown sand may bury the rocks
and restore the natural appearance of the sandy reach of shoreline. An
engineered section will retain sand better than the interim stone described
above in lIl.C.

Poiential long-term impacts: Minimal long-term impacts should be expected
since portions of the shoreline are already partially armored by broken concrete
rip-rap. An engineered revetment will require a larger footprint than the existing
broken concrete armoring.

During future high water level cycles, the revetment would provide some level of
protection, as well.

If high water conditions and erosive storms persist, public access across the
lakeward face of the structure could be limited.

C. Relocate Water Main

Relocation of the water main to the east side of the roadway would minimize the near-
term risk to the water main, but ercsional threat to the roadway itself would remain.

Regulatory: A State of Michigan Water Supply permit will be required and o CDA
permit would also likely be needed.

Feasible implementation schedule: 3-6 months, dependent upon permitting,
confractor and material availability.

Material availability, qudlity, survivability: See above Section lIl.C for stone
material information.

Cost: New 36" ductile iron water main will cost between $250 and $350 per linear
foot, including minimal peripheral items. It may be feasible to relocate only a
portion of the 2,000-foot length where coastal conditions are most likely to
threaten the water main. Assuming a length of 1,000 linear feet, the approximate
cost would be $250,000 to $350,000.

Risk: If only the water main is relocated, the roadway would remain at risk from
erosion, creating circulation issues for residents, beach-goers, and for first
responders. Over the long-term, erosion could eventually reach the relocated
portions of the water main again.

O:\Projects\2020\20-0033 Muskegon Beach Street Coastal\Reports\2020-01-22 DRAFT Muskegon Beach St Coastal Strategy docx



Mr. Lec Evans

City of Muskegon

[DRAFT] Coastal Protection Strategy - Beach Street
January 22, 2020

Page 150f 19

» Benefits: This approach protects the water main and leaves the beach and
shoreline in its existing state.

» Potentidal long-term impacts: If erosion continues to advance, the roadway may
require protection and the relocated water main may require protection.

D. Beach Nourishment Program

As a supplement to the above, the City could consider a beach nourishment
(maintenance) program. The regulatory process for sand reclamation from Lake
Michigan is likely to take years. However, once obtained, the City could nourish the
beach on a regular basis with sand, resulting in the most natural form of coastal
protection, a gently sloping beach with a shallow nearshore.

This approach would involve reclamation (dredging) of sand from beyond the depth of
closure. The depth of closure is the water depth at which the lake bottom is no longer
impacted by waves, likely 25 to 30 feet or deeper. This type of reclamation is likely to
require a long regulatory process and several special studies to confirm feasibility. While
sand reclamation is utilized along the U.S. Atlantic coastlines, it has not been applied in
the Great Lakes. Opportunities for annual funding (local, State, Federal) could be
explored so that reclamation cycles would already be funded during the periods in
which they are needed.

Figure 9: Beach nourishment operation, $t. Joseph; note hydraulic dredge upper right
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Regulatory: Requires State and Federal permits

o Reclamation from deep water would likely require several special studies,
including, but not limited to, State Historic Preservation Office reviews,
Michigan DNR Fisheries, Threatened and Endangered Species, littoral drift
study, shipwrecks/underwater preserves, and grain size analysis.

Feasible implementation schedule:

o Long-term reclamation from deep water: 3-5 years+ for initial cycle,
however this approach requires regular nourishment over a long period of
time o be effective

Material availability, quality, survivability: Further study is needed, but sand will be
sacrificial and will feed the nearshore littoral system.

Cost: The cost for nourishment will depend upon volume, mobilization costs, and
methods. Note that pre-project cost for special studies, planning, testing,
engineering, and permitting will add significant cost to this approach.

Risk: Sand reclamation from deep water may not ultimately be permitted.
Therefore, the risk exists that pre-project costs may not result in a feasible solution.
Other communities are evaluating this option and cooperative efforts may help
to mitigate the risk and improve the likelihood of permit issuance.

Benefits: This approach would seek o restore beaches to near-natural conditions
pricr to shoreline recession processes. It would nourish the littoral sand supply and
provide protection in a natural-occurring way. Additional benefits would be
identified in the pre-project phases.

Potentidal long-term impacts: The long-term impacts of sand reclamation from
deep water are not yet known, although pre-project studies would identify long-
term impacts.

O:\Projects\20204,20-0033 Muskegon Beach Sireet Coastal\Reports\2020-01-22 DRAFT Muskegon Beach 5t Coastal Strategy.docx
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V. RECOMMENDATIONS
A. Short-term

Placement of interim stone is recommended for short-term protection. The scope
(length, thickness, elevation, etc.) and type of stone would be confirmed during
preliminary engineering prior fo the submittal of a JPA.

B. Long-term

For the long-term protection of the water main and roadway, a steel sheet pile wall
and revetment combination is recommended. This approach should be constructed
only where needed to minimize impacts to the beach. Concurrently, pursuit of the sand
reclamation approach should be begin, to allow long-term maintenance of the beach
and nearshore area.

C. Data collection

Prior to preliminary engineering, a topographic survey should be completed to identify
key design components such as limits of concrete riprap, roadway edges, and the
location of OHWM. If feasible, a basic bathymetric survey should be collected to allow
the calculation of wave runup elevations.

E. Funding Opportunities

Further research is needed to identify opportunities, however the following may fund
portions of the project, especially due to the potential risks to health and safety.

= Coastal Zone Management Grant (CZM) - This grand may help fund study of

long-term sand reclamation efforts. A joint application could be coordinated
with other communities who are pursuing this approach, such as St. Joseph, New
Buffalo, and South Haven.

= Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWRF)

»  Emergency Funding — New declarations of emergency status and disaster status
are in the news often lately. If the subject area qualifies, emergency funding may
be obtainable. Further research is needed.

=  Fmergency Streambank and Shoreline Protection (Section 14) — From the website
https://www.nae.usace.army.mil/Missions/Public-Services/Continuing-Authorities-
Program/Section-14/ :

"Section 14 of the 1946 Flood Confrol Act provides the Corps of Engineers
authority to consfruct emergency shoreline and streambank profection works to
protect public facilities, such as bridges, roads, public buildings, sewage

- . O:\Projecis\2020\20-0033 Muskegon Beach Street Coastal\Reparts\2020-01-22 DRAFT Muskegon Beach 5t Coaslal Shalegy.docx
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freatment plants, water wells, and non-profit public facilities, such as churches,
hospitals, and schools. The maximum Federal expenditure at any one site is §5
million and each project must be economically justified and environmentally
sound.

Cost Sharing Requirements. Projects are undertaken on a cost shared basis. The
Feasibility Study is 100 percent federally funded up to $100,000. The local sponsor
is required to cost-share equally the cost of the Feasibility Study that exceeds
$100.,000. The local sponsor is also required to provide 35 percent of the
implementation costs of developing plans and specifications and construction.
The non-federal share of project implementation costs may include credit for
lands, easements, righfs-of-way, relocafions, and disposal areas (LERRD)
necessary for the project, plus a cash confribution of 5 percent of the fotal
projectimplementatfion costs. In the event that the value of LERRD, plus 5
percent, does not equal af least 35 percent of the total project implementation
cost, the non-federal sponsor must contribute addifional cash to equal 35
percent.

Project Process. The Corps conducts an initial appraisal early in the Feasibility
Study to determine whether the project meets program criteria and provides a
basis for defermining scope and cost of an enfire feasibility study. The solufion
must be economically feasible and environmentally acceptable. If an
acceptable alternative is identified in the feasibility study, the Corps prepares
plans and specifications, then manages construction of the project.”

Study Cost. The Feasibility Study is 100 percent federally funded up to $100,000.
Costs over the $100,000 are shared 50/50 with the non-federal sponsor.

Project Cost. Design and consfruction costs are 65 percent Federal [/ 35 percent
non-Federal.

How fo Request Assistance. Requests for assistance should be in the form of a
letter (see sample provided below) describing the location and nature of the
problem and requesting assistance under the program. The request should be
submifted by a stafe or local government agency to Mr. John Kennelly, Chief,
Planning Division, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, New England District, 696 Virginia
Road, Concord, MA 01742-2751. For more information call Christopher Haffield of
the Plan Formulation Branch at 978-318-8520."

O:\Projecis\2020\20-0033 Muskegon Beach Street Coastal\Reports\2020-01-22 DRAFT Muskegon Beach 5t Coastal Strategy.docx
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Abonmarche looks forward to the opportunity 1o assist you in implementing protective
measures. If you have any questions or need further clarification, please feel free to contact

me.

Sincerely,
Abonmarche Consultants, Inc.

Michael Morphey, PE, LEED AP
Senior Project Manager

cc:  Anne Smith, Coastal Engineer
Timothy R. Drews, PE, PTOE

Attachments: USACE January 2020 Water Level Chart
USACE Wave Information Studies — Extreme Event Plot
USACE Wave Information Studies — Wind Rose
USACE Wave Information Studies - Wave Rose
USACE Release No. 01102020-01 (January 10, 2020)
Critical Dunes Map
High Risk Erosion Area Map
Site Images, November 26, 2019

- . 0:\Projecis\20201,20-0033 Muskegon Beach Sireet Coastal\Reports\2020-01-22 DRAFT Muskegon Beach 5t Coastal Srategy.docx
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Lake Michigan WIS Station 94411

[T 01-Jan-1979 thru 31-Dec-2014
= Long: -86.4° Lat: 43.16° Depth: 40 m

Total Obs : 315573
WIND ROSE

‘Wavae Information Studies

N
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frequency
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0.13 occurrence
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US Army Engineer Research & Development Center ST94411




Lake Michigan WIS Station 94411

Rl 01-Jan-1979 thru 31-Dec-2014
= Long: -86.4° Lat: 43.16° Depth: 40 m

Total Obs / Total Ice : 315573 / 8448
WAVE ROSE

Wave Information Studies

N
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17 occurrence
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US Army Engineer Research & Development Center ST94411




NEWS RELEASE

®
U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS BUILDING STRONG.
. Contact:
For Immediate Release: Lynn Rose, Public Affairs Director
January 10, 2020 313-226-4680;
Release No. 01102020-01 313-300-0662 (cell)

Lynn.m.rose@usace.army.mil

Great Lakes water levels higher than last
year at this time

DETROIT- The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Detroit District, announces that water levels on
each of the Great Lakes started 2020 higher than they started 2019, a year where many record
high water levels were set across the lakes.

The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers urges those impacted by the high water levels of 2019 to
prepare for similar levels again in 2020. The most recent six-month forecast of Great Lakes
water levels shows water levels continuing to be well above average over this period. Unlike last
year, lakes Michigan and Huron are forecasted to reach record high levels this year.

“It is likely that water levels on lakes Michigan and Huron will set new monthly mean record
high levels over the next couple of months,” said John Allis, chief of the Great Lakes Hydraulics
and Hydrology Office, Detroit District. “This sets the stage for coastal impacts and damages in
2020 similar to, or worse than, what was experienced last year.”

The Detroit District monitors and forecasts Great Lakes’ water levels and provides the data and
analysis on their Website www.lre.usace.army.mil.

Several natural factors contribute to the record lake levels. Persistent wet conditions across the
Great Lakes basin continue to drive high water levels. Many cities across the basin set records in
2019 for the wettest period on record. The warmer than average temperatures in December led to
greater runoff due to snow pack melting, especially on lakes Superior, Michigan and Huron,
leading to more water supply. The warm air also caused less evaporation off the lakes’ surface,
which leads to more water in the system.

-more-

U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS - DETROIT DISTRICT

477 Michigan Avenue
Detroit, MI 48226
www.lre.usace.army.mil




The water levels of each lake peaked during this past summer or fall and since then have been in
a seasonal decline, however, significant erosion continues in many locations as water levels
remain extremely high. Strong storm systems and resulting large waves have led to substantial
erosion along much of the Great Lakes coastline.

To find more information about Great Lakes high water visit this link:
https://www.lre.usace.army.mil/About/Great-Lakes-High-Water/ which includes information
about how to protect property and investments along the coast and related Corps programs and
authorities.

-30-

U.S. ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS — DETROIT DISTRICT

477 Michigan Avenue
Detroit, Ml 48226
www.lre.usace.army.mil
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Parcels in High Risk Erosion Areas of
City of Muskegon, Muskegon County

HREAs identified North to South Date of Designation: December 20, 1993

HREA* Sequence No.  Parcel Identification Number Rate (feet/year) 30yrPRD* 60 yr PRD*

g ; 61—24—205-716-0001-“65‘“ 15 - los
Pumping station

Al 2 61-24-205-714-0001-00 1.5 60 105
Lake Michigan Park

Al 3 61-24-205-713-0001-00 1.5 60 105
La kewM ichigapﬂlﬁ?g rrk

Al 41 61-24-205-712-0001-00 1.5 60 105
northern 450 ft

A2 | an 61-24-205-712-0001-00 3.2 110 || 208
central 900 ft

A3 4.12 61-24-205-712-0001-00 || 2.2 30 145
southern 100 ft

A3 5 £1-24-003-100-0001-00 2.2 80 145
northern 980 ft, Norman F.
Kruse Park

Al 5.1 61-24-003-100-0001-00 3.3 115 215
southern 420 ft, Norman F.
Kruse Park

HREA* - Some parcels may be in multiple HREAs due to their large size.

30 yr PRD* is the Projected Recession Distance (feet) landward from the Erosion Hazard Line for readity
moveabtle structures including those structures 3,500 square feet or less and built on a basement, crawlspace or
pilings. Additional restrictions may apply per Administrative Rules 281.21-22.

60 yr PRD* is the Projected Recession Distance (feet} landward from the Erosion Hazard Line for non-readily
moveable structures such as large structures and septic systems.

Designation runs with the land including subsequent splits. Absence of a property number does not guarantee
the property is located outside of an HREA. Contact the Great Lakes Shorelands Unit, Water Resources Division,
DEQ in Lansing or the local DEQ field office for assistance.

5/3/2017 www.mi.gov/shorelands Page 1 of 1
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Figure 2: Looking south at southernmost reach
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City of Muskegon

Beach Street Site Images

Site Visit — November 24, 2019
Page 2 of 2

R

Figure 3: Looking south at southernmost reach, aligned with concrete rip rap

Figure 4: Looking south at southernmost reach from beach level
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Vredeveld Haefner LLC

CPAs and Consultants Douglas J. Vredeveld, CPA
10302 20" Avenue (616) 446-7474
Grand Rapids, M| 49534 : Peter S, Haefner, CPA
Fax (616) 828-0307 (616) 460-9388

November 12, 2019

To the Board of Directors
West Michigan Regional Water Authority
Muskegon County, Michigan '

We have audited the financial statements of the West Michigan Regional Water Authority (the Authority) for the
year ended June 30, 2019. Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our
responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards as well as certain information related to the planned
scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such information in our letter to you dated July 12, 2018.
Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit.

Significant Audit Results
Qualitative Aspects of Accouniing Practices

Management is responsible for the selecton and use of appropriate accounting policies. The significant
accounting policies used by the Authority are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. No new accounting
policies were adopted and the application of existing policies was not changed during the year. We noted no
transactions entered into by the governmental unit during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative
guidance or consensus. Al significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper

period.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on
management's knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events.
Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements
and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected.

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit
We encountered no significant difficuities in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit.

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit,
other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Management
has corrected all such misstatements. In addition, none of the misstatements defected as a result of audit
procedures and corrected by management were rmaterial, either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion
unit's financial statements taken as a whole,

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a financial
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to
the financial statements or the auditor's report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during
the course of our audit.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management rthat are included in the management
representation letter dated November 12, 2019,

Specializing in services to governmental and nonprofit entities




Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters,
similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of an accounting
principle to the governmental unit's financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor's opinion that
may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check
with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such
consultations with other accountants. '

Other Audit Findings or Issues

We genérally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the governmental unit's auditors. However, these
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition
to our retention. '

Other Matters

We applied cértain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI), as itemized in the table of
contents, that supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management
regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on the RSl

Restriction on Use

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board and management of the Authority and is not intended
to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Sincerely,

R
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Vredeveld Haefner LLC

CPAs and Consultants Douglas J. Vredeveld, CPA
10302 20'" Avenue {616) 446-7474
Grand Rapids, M| 49534 Peter S. Haefner, CPA
Fax (616) 828-0307 . (616) 460-9388

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

November 12, 2019

- West Michigan Regional Water Authority

Muskegon County, Michigan

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the West Michigan Regional Water Authority
(the Authority), Muskegon County, Michigan as of and for the year ended June 30, 2019, and the related
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as
listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reascnable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the cverall presentation of the financial statements.

We helieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the West Michigan Regional Water Authority, as of June 30, 2019, and the respective changes
in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

-1-

Specializing in services to governmental and nonprofit entities




Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis on pages 3 through 5 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our
audit of the basic financial statements. We do hot express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion

or provide any assurance,
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WEST MICHIGAN REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

As management of the West Michigan Regional Water Authority (the Authority), we offer readers of the
Authority’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Authorlty
for the year ended June 30, 2019. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in
conjunction with additional information that is furnished in the financial statements and notes to the financial

statements.

The West Michigan Regional Water Authority was formed by the participating municipalities (City of Norton
Shores and Fruitport Charter Township) during 2014 pursuant to Act 233, Public Acts of Michigan, 1955,
as amended, to acquire, own, and operate a water supply system to be utilized by the partlmpatlng
mummpalmes

Financial Highlights

¢ Phase | of the E. Broadway Street water main replacement was near compietion.
¢ Began Phase Il of the Broadway Street watermain project.

Overview of the Financial Statements

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Authority’s financial statements.
The Authority's basic financial statements consist of a statement of net position, a statement of revenues,
expenses and changes in net position and a statement of cash flows and are accompanied by notes to the
financial statements. The activities of the Authority are presented as an enterprise fund of a governmental
entity using the full accrual baSIS of accounting.

The stafement of net position presents information on all of the Authority's assets and liabilities, with
the difference between the two reported as net position. Qver time, increases or decreases in net
position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Authority is improving
or deterloratlng

The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position presents information showing how
the Authority’s net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are
reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs.

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the basic financial statements.

Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net position may serve overtime as a useful indicator of a government's financial position,
In the case of the Authorlty assets exceeded liabilities by $1,046,900 at the close of the most recent fiscal

year.

A portion of the Authority’s net position reflects investment in capital assets (e.g., land, and infrastructure),
less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding plus any unspent proceeds from
the debt. The investment in capital assets is in a negative position due to the assets being depreciated
faster than the debt is being paid. The Authority uses these capital assets to provide services to jointventure
participants; consequently, these assets are notf available for future spending. Although the Authority
investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed
to repay this debt must be provided from other sources since the capital assets themsetves cannot be used
to liquidate these liabilities.




The following table represents condensed information about the Authority’s financial position:

2018 2018

Assets

Current and other assets $ 1,973,396 $ 1,832,910

Capital assets 14,625,171 14,978,725
Total assets 16,598,567 16,811,635
Liabilities

Current liabilities 601,667 425178

Noncurrent liabilities ' 14,950,000 15,300,000
Total liabilities 15,651,667  15,725178
Net position

Net investment in capital assels (197,922) {188,022)

Unrestricted 1,244 822 1,274 479
Total net position $ 1,046,800 $ 1,086,457

Net position of the Authorlty decreased by $39,557 during 2019. The decrease in net position is primarily
the result of an increase in purchased water rates. A summary of operatmg and non-operating revenues
and expenses is presented below.

2019 2018

Revenue

Operating $3,296,126 $2,700,644

Nonoperating 833 759,522
Total revenue 3,296,859 3,460,166
Expenses

QOperating 2,799,402 1,974,936

Nonoperating 537,114 545,846
Total expenses 3,336,516 2,520,782
Change in net position {39,557) 939,384
Net position, beginning of year 1,086,457 147,073
Net position, end of year $1,046,900 $1,086,457

Capital Asset and Debt Administration

Capital assets

The Authority’s investment in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, was $14,625,171 as of
June 30, 2019. The Authority did not have any significant capital asset additions in the current year.

Additional information on the Authority’s capital assets can be found in Note 3 of t
Debt

The Authority had debt outstanding of $14,950,000 at June 30, 2019.

his report.

Additional information on the Authority's debt can be found in Note 4 of this report.
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Economic Factors and Future Projections

During 2018-20, the Authority will complete phase | of the E. Broadway Street water main replacement and
begin phase Il.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Authority’s finances for all those with
an interest. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional
financial information should be addressed to the Treasurer, ¢fo City of Norton Shores, 4814 Henry Street,

Norton Shores, Ml 49441.
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WEST MICHIGAN REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

|
JUNE 30, 2019

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
- Accounts receivable
 Noncurrent assets
Bond discount
Capital assets
Depreciable capital assets, net

Total assets

Liabilities and net position
Liabilities
‘Accounts payable
Accrued interest payable
Due to other governmental units
Noncurrent liabilities
Due within one year
Due in more than one year

Total liabilities

Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted

Total net position

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$ 1,084,531
781,958

126,907

14,625,171

—

16,598,567

321,917
129,750
150,000

400,000
14,550,000

15,551,667

(197,922)
1,244 822
©$ 1,048900




WEST MICHIGAN REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Cperating revenue

Sales and charges for services $ 3,293,576
Miscellaneous 2,550
Total operating revenue 3,296,126

Operating expenses

Water purchases : ' 2,314,400
Utilities 9,654
Repairs , 64,618
Administrative 57177
Depreciation : 353,553
¢ ey
Total operating expenses 2,799,402 F
Operating income (loss) 496,724 .
Nonoperating revenue (expense) [*
Interest income 833
Bond fee i (500)
Interest expense (536,614)
Total nonoperating revenue (expense) ' : (536,281)
Change in net position ' (39,557)
Net position, beginning of year 1,086,457
Net position, end of year $ 1,046,900
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. [
-8-
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WEST MICHIGAN REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers $

3,002,262
(2,265,860)

Payments to suppliers

Net cash provided by operating activities

736,402

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Bond fee
Interest paid
Principal payments on long-term debt

(500)
(533,768)
(350,000)

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities

(884,268)

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest income

834

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(147,032)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ' $

1,211,563

1,064,531

Reconciliation of operating income to cash flows from
operating activities
Operating income (loss) 3
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities
Depreciation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities which
provided (used) cash
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable

496,724

353,553

(293,864)
179,989

736,402

Net cash provided by (used in} operating activities | $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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WEST MICHIGAN REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

1.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies of the West Michigan Regional Water Authority (the Authority) conform to
generally accepted accounting principles as applicable to governments. The following is a summary of

the significant policies, :

Reporting Entity

The West Michigan Regional Water Authority (a joint venture) was formed by participating
municipalities (City of Norton Shores and Fruitport Charter Township) during 2014 pursuant to Act 233,
Public Acts of Michigan, 1955, as amended, to acquire, own and operate a water supply system to be
utilized by the participating municipalities.

Participating municipalities purchase water from the Authority based on their exclusive water system
usage.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

The financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a
liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.,

Basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenses are recegnized in the accounts and reported
in the financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing of the measurements made

regardiess of the measurement focus applied.

Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with the
Authority's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the Authority are
contractual payments from members of the joint venture. Operating expenses of the Authority include
the cost of operations, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Authority's policy to use
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the Authority considers all highly liquid investments
with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Michigan law and Authority policy authorizes the Authority to invest in;

a. Bond, securities, other obligations and repurchase agreements of the United States, or an
agency or instrumentality of the United States.

b. Certificates of deposit, savings accounts, deposit accounts or depository receipts of a
qualified financial institution.

c. Commercial paper rated at the time of purchase within the three highest classifications
established by not less than two standard rating services and that matures not more than 270
days after the date of purchase.

-11-




WEST MICHIGAN REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

d. Bankers’ acceptances of United States banks.

e. Obligations of the State of Michigan and its political subdivisions that, at the time of purchase
are rated as investment grade by at least one standard rating service.

f.  Mutual funds composed of investment vehicles, which are legal for direct investment by local
units of government in Michigan.

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include the water system and related equipment, are reported in the statement
of net position.

Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than
$5,000 and an estimated usefu! life in excess of two years. Such assets are valued at cost where
historical records are available and at estimated historical cost where no historical records exist.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that d:o not add to the value of the asset or materially
extend asset lives are not capitalized. Improvements are capitalized and depreciated over the
remaining useful lives of the related capital assets, as applicable.

Depreciation on capital assets is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated
useful lives:

Years
Water system and improvements 50
Machinery and equipment 7-30

Bond Discount

Bond discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest
method.

Net Position

Restricted net position (if any) represents those portions of net position not appropriable for expenditure
or legally segregated for a specific future use.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The balance on the financial statements of cash and cash equivalents is $1,064,531.

These balances are in a financial institution located in Michigan. State policy limits the Authority’s
investing options to financial institutions located in Michigan. All accounts are in the name of the
Authority and are recorded in Authority records at fair value.

" Deposit Risk
Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits. Custodiat credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the

Authority's deposits may not be returned. As of year-end $1,184,981 of the Authority’s bank balance of
$1,434,981 was exposed to custodial credit risk because the balance was uninsured and

uncollateralized.
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WEST MICHIGAN REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

3. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year was as follows:

Balance

Balance
July 1, June 30,
2018 Additions Deletions 2019
Capital assets, being depreciated
Water system and improvements $15,5663,585 $ - 3 - 315,563,585
Machinery and equipment 472,988 L - 472 988
Total capital assets being depreciated 16,036,573 - - 16,036,673
Less accumulated depreciation for
Water system and improvements 933,189 311,273 - 1,244,462
Machinery and equipment 124,659 42 281 - 166,840
Total accumulated depreciation 1,057,848 353,554 - 1,411,402
Cépital assets, net $14,978,725 $(353,554) $ - . $14,625171

4. LONG-TERM DEBT

The following is a summary of debt transactions of the Authority for the year ended June 30, 2019

Balance Balance Due
July 1, June 30, Within
2018 Additions Deletions 2019 One Year
2014 Water Supply Systerh Bonds
Series 2014A (LTGO}, due in annual
installments of $100,000 to
$1,200,000 through April 1, 2038;
interest at 2.0% to 5.0%. $15,300,000 $ - - $350,000 $14,950,000  $400,000
Bond discount (133,253) - (6,346) (126,907) -
Total $15,166,747 $ - $ 343,654 $14,823,093  $400,000

All of the City's outstanding debt is considered

private placement debt.
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WEST MICHIGAN REGIONAL WATER AUTHORITY i

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

The annual requirements to amortize all debt outstanding as of June 30, 2018 are as follows:

Year Ending
June 30 Principal Interest
2020 $ 400,000 $ 519,000
2021 400,000 503,000
2022 450,000 487,000
2023 500,000 478,000
2024 500,000 466,750
2025-2029 2,800,000 2,042,250 F
2030-2034 4,300,000 1,466,250 i
2035-2038 5,500,000 631,625 i
Total $14,950,000 $6,593,875 t

5. RISK MANAGEMENT

The Authority participates in the Michigan Municipal Liability and Property Pool, with other
municlpalities for property, liability, bonding, and casualty losses. The pool is organized under Public
Act 138 of 1982, as amended. In the event the pool's claims and expenses for a policy year exceed
the normal annual premiums for the applicable years, all members of the Pool's policy year may be
subject to specific assessment to make up the deficiency. The Authority has not been informed of any
special assessments being required.

6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following balances are attributable to participating municipalities as follows:

Water Accounts

Sales Receivable
City of Norton Shores $2,319,029 $550,01
Fruitport Charter Township 831,951 231,867
Total $3,250,980 $781,958

7. CONTINGENT LIABILITY

Phase | of the Broadway Street project was completed subsequent to year end. The Authority has
agreed to pay for the water main portion of the project in the estimated amount of approximately o
$620,000. Once the project is closed out and the exact amount is known, the City of Norton Shores :
will bilt the Authority for the water portion of the project.

Phase Il of the Broadway Street project is expected to start during the 2019-20 fiscal year. The
Authority has agreed to pay the City of Norton Shores for the water main portion of the project which is

estimated to be approximately $345,000.




